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Penalizing Corporate Misconduct:  Empirical Evidence

Abstract


We examine the legal and market penalties imposed on individuals and firms for two types of misconduct:  financial misrepresentation and foreign bribery.  Our sample includes all enforcement actions taken by the SEC from 1978 through 2002 under U.S. code sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) – the primary sections that grant enforcement power to the SEC for financial misrepresentation – and section 30(A), the anti-bribery section.  During this 25-year period, 562 separate enforcement actions were brought for financial misrepresentation and 42 for bribery.  


Legal and market penalties tend to be high for financial reporting violations, and lower for bribery.  A total of $12.1 billion in fines and civil penalties were imposed for the financial reporting violations, and 66 managers received jail sentences.  The legal penalties are positively related to measures of the size and severity of the violation.  Monetary penalties imposed by the market are even larger.  The initial announcement of a financial reporting enforcement action is associated with a mean abnormal return of –10.3% for the defendant firm.  This augments a 20.1% loss in share value that accompanies prior events – such as unforeseen executive turnover or asset write-downs – that trigger the SEC's investigation.  Nearly one-half of these losses can be attributed to impaired operations or lost reputation from the misrepresentations.  This evidence belies a widespread view that corporate misdeeds are disciplined lightly.  To the contrary, the SEC historically has pursued many enforcement actions for financial misconduct.  Furthermore, penalties for financial misrepresentation are not applied indiscriminately, but instead are related to the harms imposed by the violations.    

JEL classification: G38; K22; K42; M41
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Penalizing Corporate Misconduct:  Empirical Evidence
I.  Introduction


Does corporate misconduct go unpunished?  Many commentators seem to think so, especially following scandals involving earnings restatements and bankruptcies at such companies as Enron Corp. and WorldCom Inc. “It’s time to stop coddling white-collar crooks.  Send them to jail,” argues Fortune magazine’s March 18, 2002 cover.  “Enough is enough: They lie, they cheat, they steal and they’ve been getting away with it for too long.”  Research seems to confirm this impression.  Agrawal, Jaffe, and Karpoff (1999), for example, conclude that CEOs tend not to lose their jobs after their firms are charged with fraud.  Black and Cheffins (2004) argue that non-executive directors face virtually no disciplinary actions for scandal at the firms they are supposed to oversee.  


The view that corporate misconduct is punished lightly has a large effect on public policy.  The Sarbanes-Oxley Act passed both houses of the U.S. Congress by near-unanimous margins in July 2002 following the revelation of inflated earnings at WorldCom Inc.  At the time, Senator John McCain cited “... a climate of lax regulation” as a primary motive for the legislation.
  Recent investigations by the New York Attorney General's office into the investment banking and mutual fund industries are motivated in part by a belief that corporate crimes were going unpunished.  And the Securities and Exchange Commission has proposed new corporate voting rules spurred in part by a belief that changes in corporate governance are required to decrease corporate misconduct.
 


A remarkable aspect of such activities is that there is little evidence to either support or refute the presumption that corporate misconduct goes largely unpunished.  In this paper we examine the evidence.  In particular, we examine SEC enforcement actions for financial misrepresentation to address three questions:


Question #1:  
How frequently does the SEC act to discipline corporate misconduct?


Question #2:  
What penalties are imposed on individuals for their involvement in such misconduct?


Question #3:  
What penalties are imposed on firms (i.e., firm shareholders)? 


To answer these questions, we examine the universe of SEC enforcement actions taken under provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) of 1977.  Despite its name, the FCPA’s primary influence has been through the SEC’s enforcement of corporate financial reporting procedures.  Of 604 firms undergoing enforcement actions under provisions of the FCPA from its inception through 2002, 93% involve violations of the Act’s financial provisions.  This includes WorldCom's recent $2.25 billion civil penalty for inflating earnings by $11 billion and America Online Inc.'s 2000 $3.5 million civil penalty for capitalizing rather than expensing certain direct marketing expenses.
  Charges filed as a result of the Enron bankruptcy also involve FCPA provisions.


Our investigation provides a baseline of information on the frequency and sizes of penalties imposed on individuals and firms for financial misrepresentation through July 2003.  Virtually all cases involving financial misrepresentation at publicly traded companies in the United States involve FCPA-related violations, so our sample captures the universe of such enforcement actions.
  We examine the administrative and civil penalties levied by the SEC, criminal penalties initiated by the Department of Justice (DOJ), civil judgments initiated by individuals and through class-action lawsuits, and judgments brought through shareholder-initiated derivative lawsuits.  We also examine the market-value effects of four key types of information related to an SEC enforcement action:  the news that initially triggers the investigation, the announcement of the investigation itself, the subsequent announcement of charges filed, and the resolution of the enforcement action.  


The sample also includes all 42 actions taken under the anti-bribery provision of the FCPA from 1978 through 2002.  While the bribery-related data comprise only 7% of the sample, they allow us to compare the penalties for financial misrepresentation with those for bribery violations.  We expect the penalties to differ because the effects of the two types of misconduct differ.  Financial misrepresentations typically impose substantial harm on the firm's investors and stakeholders.  Briberies, in contrast, frequently involve transfers that are neither dissipative nor unexpected.  Although they are illegal, bribes are unlikely to impose uncompensated harms on the parties with whom the firm does business. 


Although our investigation is primarily descriptive, we investigate two hypotheses about the size and types of penalties for corporate misconduct.  The first is that, as proposed by Becker (1968), legal penalties optimally are related to the injury imposed by the misconduct.  We examine this hypothesis by measuring the sizes and determinants of the monetary penalties imposed through SEC, Department of Justice, and civil court proceedings.  The second hypothesis is that, as Klein and Leffler (1981) and Jarrell and Peltzman (1985) argue, legal penalties often understate the total cost imposed on shareholders when a firm's misconduct is revealed.  This is because revelations of misconduct can trigger a reputational penalty.  Following Klein and Leffler, the reputational penalty is the present value of lost future profits due to higher contracting costs (e.g., a higher cost of capital) or lower sales that result when the firm's investors, suppliers, and customers adjust their terms of exchange with the firm in light of the revealed misconduct.
  We measure the reputational penalty as the loss in firm value that cannot be attributed to adjustments in the firm's financial statements or penalties imposed through the legal system.


Thus, our two additional questions are:


Question #4:
Are legal penalties consistent with optimal penalty theory, ie., are they related to the size and scope of the misconduct?


Question #5:  
Are reputation effects important in disciplining corporate misconduct?


Table 1 provides a preview of our empirical findings.  For financial misrepresentation, we find that:  


(Question 1):  The SEC acts frequently to discipline financial misrepresentation, initiating 562 enforcement actions from 1978 through 2002.  The number of enforcement actions grows over time, is not notably related to firm size and does not reflect recidivism, as only six firms were targeted by more than one enforcement action during this period.  


(Question 2):  A total of 1,874 individuals were implicated in financial-related enforcement actions.  691 of these former managers or professionals were censured, barred as officers and directors, or suspended from practice in public firms.  Thirty-two were placed on probation, and 66 were sentenced to jail.  Over $8.7 billion in penalties were assessed on individuals through actions initiated by the SEC, and an additional $2 billion was awarded through shareholder class-action lawsuits.
  


(Question 3):  A total of 892 non-monetary sanctions were imposed on firms, including permanent injunctions, orders for remediation, and in 22 cases, the revocation of the firm's corporate charter.  Monetary penalties were imposed on 25% of the firms, totaling $3.4 billion in SEC penalties and $4.1 billion in class-action lawsuits.  The market penalties imposed on firm shareholders are huge.  For financial violations, the initial announcement that a firm is under an FCPA-related investigation is associated with an average one-day abnormal return of –10.34%.  This is in addition to an average loss of 20.06% that accompanies the prior announcement of the event – such as an accounting restatement or change in auditor – that triggered the FCPA-related investigation in the first place.  Altogether, over $114 billion in shareholder value vanished when the reporting improprieties of these 562 publicly traded corporations were exposed.


(Question 4):  The legal penalties for financial misrepresentation are positively related to several measures of the size and severity of the misrepresentation.  This indicates that legal penalties are not imposed indiscriminately, but that they increase with the harm imposed.  


(Question 5):  Operational and reputation effects discipline financial reporting violations.  Legal penalties and accounting write-offs explain one-half of the market value losses impose on firms that are targeted by financial reporting enforcement actions.  We attribute the remaining portion to impaired operations or lost reputation.
  


The penalties for bribery-related enforcement actions, in contrast, are much smaller than for financial misrepresentation.  In the 42 bribery enforcement actions from 1978 through 2002, eight individuals were incarcerated and seven were barred or suspended from practice.  A total of $11.8 million in monetary penalties were imposed on individuals and $128.4 million on firms, and no firms had their registrations revoked.  The market penalties for bribery violations also are relatively small, as the average stock price reaction to initial enforcement actions involving bribery is –3.02%.  The legal penalties for bribery violations are not related to measures of the severity of the violation, and there is no evidence of reputational losses for such violations.    


Overall, this evidence indicates that, even before the 2002 Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the SEC and Department of Justice have brought numerous actions to discipline misdeeds by publicly traded corporations.  The legal and market penalties depend on the type of violation, however.  Both legal and market penalties for financial misrepresentations are large, while those for bribery violations are much smaller.  We interpret these findings as indicating that corporate misconduct typically is penalized when it is uncovered.  But, consistent with Becker's (1968) optimal penalties framework, the penalties tend to be related to the harms imposed.  Furthermore, market-based reputational losses discipline financial reporting violations, but not bribery violations.  


The rest of this paper is organized as follows.  Section II describes the FCPA and the events that led to its passage.  Although the FCPA plays a central role in disciplining corporate financial reporting frauds, surprisingly little research has been conducted into its effects.  We summarize these few other related papers in Section III.  Section IV describes the frequencies and characteristics of financial and bribery-related enforcement actions from the FCPA's inception through 2002.  Section V reports on the types and sizes of the legal penalties imposed on individuals, and section VI describes the legal and market penalties imposed on firms.  Section VII examines whether legal penalties are related to the size and scope of the harms, and in section VIII we identify the sources of firms' market value losses.  We find that reputation disciplines financial reporting violations, but not bribery violations.  Section IX concludes the paper.

II. The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977


The FCPA has its roots in the Watergate scandal that followed the presidential election of 1972.  Investigating the scandal during 1973-74, the Office of the Special Prosecutor and the Senate Select Committee on Presidential Campaign Activities uncovered evidence that several U.S. corporations made illegal contributions to President Nixon's reelection campaign, laundered funds to be used for illegal contributions, and falsified corporate financial records to conceal the illegal uses of funds.  Contemporaneous press reports exposed bribes paid by U.S. corporations to public officials in foreign countries in exchange for favorable contracts.  In one high profile case, Lockheed Corporation paid $22 million to officials in the Tanaka government in Japan.
  


To estimate the potential magnitude of the problem, the SEC initiated a voluntary disclosure program offering amnesty to companies that disclosed past illegal payments and agreed to implement internal procedures to prevent illegal payments and bribery in the future.  Over 400 companies, including 117 of the Fortune 500, disclosed questionable or illegal payments totaling more than $300 million. In a separate program, the Internal Revenue Service identified 270 instances of the use of slush funds to pay bribes in the U.S. and abroad.  The payments ranged from bribes of high public officials to payments made to facilitate clerical duties.

The combination of Watergate, illegal domestic campaign contributions, and the highly publicized bribery of foreign officials drove public support for legislative action.  In addition, the new Carter administration, which took office in January 1977, sought to distinguish its foreign policy from those of preceding administrations.  The result was the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.  Reflecting the political sentiment of the time, the act passed both houses of Congress by unanimous votes.


The FCPA has three main provisions, each of which amends some portion of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:


(i)  The anti-bribery provision imposes fines of up to $1 million for firms caught paying bribes to foreign officials or third-party intermediaries.  Individual officers and directors can be fined up to $10,000 and can receive prison sentences of up to five years.   A 1988 amendment increases the maximum fines to $2 million for the company and $100,000 for individuals.


(ii)  The books and records provision of the act requires companies subject to SEC reporting requirements (because their securities are listed in the United States) to keep detailed books and records that accurately reflect corporate payments and transactions.


(iii)  The internal controls provision requires companies to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls to assure management's control over the company's assets.


On the surface – and particularly given its title – the FCPA appears primarily to outlaw bribery practices.  In reality, existing statues already outlawed many forms of bribery.  For example, Textron was fined $131,670 for bribing an official of the Dominican Republic in 1976 – before the FCPA was enacted.  The specific charge was failing to report that it had sent more than $5,000 out of the country.  In another pre-FCPA case, three executives were sentenced to prison terms and the General Electric Company was fined in a $1.25 million bribery scheme intended to enhance GE's bid for a contract to build a Puerto Rican electric-generating plant in 1974.  The main effect of the anti-bribery provision therefore is to decree specific penalties for illegal payments to foreign officials.


Much larger effects come through the books and records and internal control provisions.  These granted the SEC new authority to combat financial reporting malfeasance, and have been used to impose penalties for financial misconduct unrelated to foreign bribery.  The first charge brought under the auspices of the FCPA occurred in SEC v. Aminex Resources Corp.  The firm’s former CEO and a director were alleged to have misappropriated corporate funds through fictitious payments, kickbacks and personal use of the proceeds from the sale of corporate property.  Neither foreign commerce nor bribery violations were involved.  We find that this attribute is more the norm rather than the exception for the cases brought under the auspices of the FCPA.  Typical violations include questionable or inappropriate transactions involving large write-offs, accounting for mergers and acquisitions, failure to provide adequate loan loss provisions, failure to mark to market the value of assets after they have declined, failure to disclose related party transactions, and earnings manipulation.  


In a well-known example, in May 2000 America Online, Inc. settled charges that it violated the FCPA books and records provisions.  The charges arose because AOL capitalized, rather than expensed, certain direct advertising costs related to the distribution of millions of computer disks containing AOL startup software to potential AOL subscribers.  AOL agreed to settle the SEC's charges by paying a $3.5 million civil penalty and agreeing to cease and desist from further books and records violations.


We have been unable to determine whether the FCPA's role in disciplining financial misconduct was recognized or intended at the time of its passage.  But its effects were apparent soon afterwards.  By 1983, for example, a federal district court ruled that the FCPA's requirements that firms maintain reliable books and records were the most important aspect of the law.  In the court’s view, the FCPA stipulated that “different people should perform the functions of record keeping, authorization, and operation ‘to avoid the temptation for abuse’; exceptional entries should be investigated regularly, and ‘at reasonable intervals there should be a comparison of the accounting records with the actual inventory of assets.’"
  


III. Related Research

Several researchers have examined the impact on firms of news releases or charges that the firms violated financial reporting rules or had to restate earnings.  Feroz, Park, and Pastena (1991), Karpoff and Lott (1993), Dechow, Hutton, and Sloan (1996), Beneish (1999), and Palmrose, Richardson, Scholz (2004) all report that the average stock price reaction to such releases is negative and statistically significant.  These researchers' samples almost assuredly include cases that involve FCPA violations.  Smith, Stettler, and Beedles (1984) report a negative mean two-day cumulative abnormal return of -1.61% surrounding announcements concerning the SEC's voluntary disclosure program of foreign sensitive payment disclosures prior to enactment of the FCPA.  For the most part, however, these papers have not attempted a systematic examination of the legal and market penalties imposed on individuals and firms for either financial reporting or bribery violations.  Furthermore, by relying on such sources as The Wall Street Journal Index or the appearance of an SEC Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release (AAER) to collect their samples, these papers miss manyof the disciplinary actions initiated by the SEC.


Other researchers have investigated whether the bribery provision of the FCPA increases the cost to U.S. firms of doing business in foreign countries.  When these investigations were performed, no other country prohibited foreign bribery, so critics contended that the FCPA placed American businesses at a competitive disadvantage.  Hines (1995) supports this competitive disadvantage argument while Graham (1984) rejects it.  Beck, Maher and Tschoegl (1991) report evidence consistent with the argument that the FCPA reduces exports to non-Latin American countries, but not to bribery-prone Latin American countries.  While these papers are related by their sample choice, they do not address our concern of how corporate misconduct is penalized.

IV.  The Frequency of SEC Enforcement Actions (Question #1) 


We begin our investigation by tabulating all enforcement actions initiated by the SEC or DOJ under FCPA provisions from the Act's inception through 2002.  Actions and resulting penalties before September 1995 were identified and collected from the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Reporter.
  The Reporter does not report all FCPA-related actions, and in particular omitted enforcement actions between October 1993 and April 1995.  We supplemented the data using information carried by Lexis-Nexis,
 and then filled in holes and double-checked the data for completeness and accuracy through a series of meetings with employees of the Department of Justice and SEC.  DOJ enforcement data were provided by the Department of Justice and SEC enforcement data since September 19, 1995 are from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. 

The SEC and DOJ initiated a total of 604 FCPA-related enforcement actions from 1978 through 2002.   Table 2 reports the distribution of the sample by the type of violation and by the year that the SEC or DOJ filed the first legal or administrative charges against the firm.  The vast majority of enforcement actions (562, or 93%) involve violations of the financial reporting provisions of the FCPA.  Only 42 (or 7%) involve violations of the bribery provision.  Of these 42, 14 also include financial reporting-related charges, whereas none of the 562 financial reporting actions involve bribery violations.  The number of actions has grown over time, from an average of 8 per year from 1978-84, to 21 per year from 1985-93, and to 39 per year from 1994 to 2002.

The FCPA’s financial reporting provisions apply strictly to firms that issue securities in American markets and thereby come under SEC scrutiny.  In contrast, the Act’s bribery provisions apply to publicly-traded and privately-held US-based firms, as well as to US citizens.  Table 3 classifies the sample by industry grouping and firm size.  For descriptive purposes, we include a column labeled “Not Listed.”  Of the 122 actions represented in this column, 121 are actions taken against firms, or individuals associated with firms, that are not listed in the CRSP file.  The 122nd action was a bribery violation that did not involve a firm.  Of these 122 actions, we are able to classify 27 firms by Compustat SIC codes, leaving 95 actions (79 financial reporting and 16 bribery) for which we have neither CRSP nor Compustat data.  Penalties have been assessed in 43 of these 95 actions and 4 remain pending.  

Table 3 reveals no tendency for FCPA-based actions to be directed toward either large or small firms.  For firms covered by CRSP, the smallest decile experienced the most (73) FCPA-based actions.  To place the penalties that we examine in context, the average market value of equity of firms in this smallest decile is $3.4 million (the median is $2.7 million).  The average size of the 50 firms in the largest decile is $19.5 billion (the median is $4.7 billion).  

Manufacturing firms comprise 35 % of the sample.  An additional 16% of the firms are in the services industry, followed by finance, insurance and real estate (12%), wholesale firms (5%), retail firms (5%), and transportation, communication, electric, gas and sanitary service firms (5%).  Table 3 also shows that recidivism (the number of repeated actions taken against a single firm) is relatively rare.  Only six firms were investigated more than once for FCPA violations and no firm was investigated three or more times over the 25-year span of our study.  In contrast, Karpoff, Lee and Vendrzyk (1999) report that 43 of 98 firms implicated in military procurement frauds were recidivists and 19 of those firms were implicated four or more cases over a 13-year period.

 
Figure 1 depicts the process surrounding an FCPA investigation.  In most cases, an investigation is triggered by a specific event that signals the possibility of prior corporate malfeasance.  Such events, which we label trigger events, include disclosures by the firm of potential problems, earnings restatements, changes in upper management or independent auditors, delays in filing required reports, shareholder lawsuits, unusual trading activity, complaints submitted by third parties or whistleblowers, and routine reviews by the SEC of new securities registrations or regular company reports.  The trigger event often is a symptom of underlying accounting irregularities.  For example, a delay in filings or a change in auditor may be due to a disagreement between managers and auditors regarding a firm's financial reporting policy.  We define the period from the date of the trigger event to the final resolution of charges as the enforcement period.  The SEC's enforcement actions always indicate the period over which the alleged violations occurred, which we label the violation period.  


Following a trigger event, the SEC will launch either (1) an informal inquiry to determine if a formal investigation is warranted, or (2) a formal investigation in which the firm is notified that it is under investigation regarding specific events or practices.  Once the SEC has determined the extent of the violations, it takes administrative action, files civil charges, or refers the case to the Department of Justice for criminal charges.  The public can learn about an actual or pending enforcement action either from the company itself through a press release or from the SEC when it files charges or takes administrative action.
  We label the first public announcement of an investigation or enforcement action an investigation announcement.  If this announcement results from a company press release, we identify the first SEC release concerning the action as the charges filed date.  By construction, when a charges filed date exists, it always follows a prior investigation announcement.


Some charges are resolved quickly.  Indeed, some initial announcements of an enforcement action include a report that the charges were settled.  More typically, the process following the investigation announcement takes several months or years.  For firms that do not announce a settlement with the SEC at the initial investigation announcement, the mean period between the investigation announcement and final resolution of the charges is 21.3 months (the median is 12.1 months).  During this period, the SEC may invoke disciplinary actions through administrative proceedings, by filing civil charges against the defendant firm or its officers and advisors, and issuing public releases of its findings through Securities Act Releases, Securities Exchange Act Releases, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases (AAERs).  In some cases, the Department of Justice also files criminal charges against the firm or individual managers.  


The data in Table 4 indicate that the enforcement period is a busy time.  The 562 financial enforcement actions triggered a total of 774 administrative proceedings at the SEC, an average of 1.38 per action.  There were a total of 951 civil litigation proceedings – an average of 1.69 per enforcement action –and the SEC issued a total of 1,216 separate Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases (AAERs) involving these cases, an average of 2.16 AAERs per case.  Finally, the Department of Justice filed criminal charges 76 times, for an average of 0.14 per enforcement action.  On average and in total, the bribery-related enforcement actions triggered fewer administrative proceedings, civil proceedings, and AAERs than the financial reporting actions.  But the 42 bribery actions led to a total of 48 criminal proceedings, an average of 1.14 proceedings per enforcement action.  Thus, while bribery enforcement actions are relatively infrequent and prompt fewer disciplinary actions by the SEC, they are more likely than financial enforcement actions to lead to criminal charges.   


Rarely does a firm face a single charge.  Although there are 604 unique events in our sample, the defendant firms faced a total of 1,782 separate FCPA-related charges, an average of three FCPA-related charges per event.  Furthermore, most defendant firms simultaneously are charged with violating other non-FCPA related provisions of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or SEC regulations.  Table 5 reports the frequency of non-FCPA charges for events in the sample.  Only 31 (5.5%) of the 562 financial enforcement actions had charges relating solely to FCPA provisions.  In 431 of the actions, the FCPA-related charges were accompanied by charges of fraud under sections 17(a) or 17(b) of the 1933 Securities Exchange Act and 10(a), 10(b), 16(a), or 16(c) of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act.  In 100 actions, no fraud charges were filed.  In 94 of these actions, other reporting violations accompanied the FCPA charges, while non-reporting violations accompanied the six remaining FCPA charges.


Table 5 also reports the number of fraud violations of the 1933 Securities Act and the 1934 Securities Exchange Act.  Most of the actions involving the 1933 Act (263 of 266) also involved the 1934 Act.  Yet, only 61.5% (263 of 428) of the actions involving the 1934 Act also involved the 1933 Act.


Typically, non-FCPA charges are closely linked to the charges brought under FCPA provisions.  Violating the FCPA's mandate to keep accurate books and records, for example, frequently coincides with intent to mislead, thus triggering charges of fraud.  Violations of the FCPA's books and records provision also frequently coincides with material misrepresentations in such periodic reports as the 10-K, 10-Q, or 8-K, thus triggering charges of reporting violations under non-FCPA regulations.  In total, an average of 6.1 non-FCPA charges are brought for each event in the sample, in addition to the FCPA-related charges.
 

V.  Legal Penalties Imposed on Individuals (Question #2)


Both individuals and firms can be assessed penalties for violating FCPA provisions.  Individuals can be ordered to pay fines or civil monetary penalties, or to disgorge any personal monetary gains that resulted from the illegal activity.  They can be prohibited from serving as officers or directors of registered companies.  Professionals such as lawyers, accountants, and dealer/brokers can be censured, suspended, or barred from practicing before the SEC either temporarily or permanently.  And individual investors can sue the company or its managers seeking monetary damages through class action or derivative lawsuits.  


The SEC enforces minor violations through administrative proceedings.  More significant violations can prompt the SEC to file civil charges.  And when criminal fraud or intent is suspected, the SEC can refer the matter to the DOJ for criminal prosecution.  Criminal penalties for individual managers include fines and prison sentences. 

Table 6 reports on the penalties imposed on individuals.  A total of 1,874 individuals were named in the financial enforcement actions, an average of 3.33 per action.  Monetary penalties were imposed on 232 (12.4%) of these individuals.  The mean penalty is $37.59 million, but this includes a $6.8 billion judgment assessed against Charles Keating, Jr. in the failed Lincoln Savings and Loan (American Continental Corp) scandal.  Omitting this extreme outlier, the mean monetary penalty imposed on individuals is $8.32 million (the median is $212,000).  The SEC censured corporate accountants in just 18 cases.  But 336 managers were barred from serving as officers or directors of public corporations and 337 individuals were suspended or barred from future work as financial professionals or lawyers in SEC-related filings and matters.  Prison or confinement was imposed on 66 managers, while another 32 received probationary sentences.  In total, 296.3 years of jail time and 95.0 years of probation were imposed for violations of the FCPA financial provisions.


Lott (1992) reports that legal penalties for wrongdoing frequently account for only a small fraction of the total impact on managers' personal wealth, as the managers also experience reputational losses that adversely affect their abilities to earn wages in the future.   Even ignoring reputational penalties, however, an average of 27.6 censures, suspensions, or debarments were imposed on managers each year during the 25-year period from 1978-2002.  In addition, approximately 2.6 managers were sent to jail per year, facing an average of 4.5 years of time.  These data indicate that, long before the recent financial reporting scandals that prompted the Sarbanes-Oxley legislation, civil and criminal actions against financial fraud were common.  Such actions also have had teeth, as the penalties, when imposed, have not been negligible.


The penalties for bribery-related violations generally are smaller than for financial reporting violations.  Among the 42 firms attracting enforcement actions for bribery violations, 102 individual managers were implicated for wrongdoing.  Of these, 19 individuals were assessed monetary penalties, with a mean amount of $623,000 (the median is $45,000).  Five of the implicated individuals were barred from serving as officers and directors of public corporations, two were suspended from practicing in SEC-related matters, and none were censured.  Eight individuals were incarcerated for a mean of 1.8 years, and 18 received probationary terms averaging 2.5 years.  Thus, not only is the incidence of bribery-related charges much lower than that for financial reporting charges, but the penalties generally are smaller.  

VI.  Penalties imposed on firms (Question #3)

VI.A.  Legal penalties


The penalties for firms range from simple cease-and-desist orders – in which the firm is ordered to stop specific actions – to cases in which the registration of the firm’s securities is revoked, essentially shutting the firm down.  Like individuals, firms also can be assessed monetary penalties or sued by individual investors.
  


The legal penalties imposed on firms are summarized in Table 7.  As reflected in Panel A, non-monetary sanctions are common, as an average of 1.59 non-monetary actions were taken against each of the 562 firms attracting financial enforcement actions.  Roughly one-half (53%) of these are permanent injunctions against the offending activities, which were imposed on 472 (or 84%) of the firms in the financial reporting sample.  Cease and desist orders were imposed on 282 (50%) of the firms.  Cease and desist orders and injunctions tend to be small penalties, as they merely prohibit the firm from continuing its offending activities.  Specific remedial actions, which were required of 116 (21%) of the firms, impose slightly larger penalties.  A potentially very large penalty – the revocation of the firm's registration with the SEC – was imposed on 22 (4%) of the firms.  


As reported in Panel B of Table 7, monetary penalties are imposed infrequently – in only 36 financial reporting cases and 24 of the bribery cases.  When they are imposed; however, the amounts can be large.  The mean fine for financial reporting violations is $93.9 million, but this reflects the influence of a $2.25 billion fine imposed upon WorldCom Inc. in July 2003 for overstating the income it reported in its financial statements by $7.2 billion.  Omitting this outlier, the mean fine is $32.3 million.


In addition to fines and penalties awarded through SEC or Department of Justice prosecution, many firms paid damage awards to shareholders as a result of class action lawsuits.  Summary statistics on the amounts of the payments are reported in Panel C of Table 7.  A total of 118 firms paid awards in class action lawsuits arising from the financial reporting violations, with a mean amount of $35.046 million (the median is $2.438 million).  The largest award of $2.83 billion is from a class action suit brought against Cendant Corp. (formerly CUC International) involving 12 years of systematically inflating the firm’s operating income and manipulating accounting records.
  


Shareholders from these 118 firms, plus 23 additional firms, received payments from the firms' director and officer liability insurance carriers or from other parties.  (In some of these cases, firms received payments from managers through derivative lawsuits.  The amounts of any such payments are netted out in the computation of the amounts paid by the firms.)  The mean amount paid by entities other than the firm itself in these 141 cases is $14.168 million, with a median of $2.175 million.  Overall, the total payments from the firms and from other parties average $43.498 million, with a median of $6.2 million.    


Once again, bribery charges result in relatively small penalties, across the board.  In Panel A of Table 7, monetary penalties are imposed in 24 of the 42 bribery cases – a relatively high rate of 57%.  But the mean penalty is $5.35 million and (the median is $300,000).  Some bribery violations were accompanied by financial reporting-related charges, as firms attempted to conceal the bribes in their financial statements.  These charges resulted in six cease-and-desist orders, 23 injunctions, and nine remedial actions.  Unlike the straight financial reporting-related violations, no bribery-related charge caused the firm's registration to be revoked.  While one-fourth of all financial reporting enforcement actions resulted in class-action settlements (141/562), only one of the 42 bribery cases did so.  Overall, the levels of monetary and non-monetary penalties are much larger for financial reporting violations than those for bribery violations, suggesting that regulators are more concerned with financial reporting transparency than payments to foreign officials.


VI.B.  Share Value Effects of FCPA Enforcement Actions

1.  Event study data and method

In this section we examine the impacts on the share values of firms that are subject to FCPA enforcement actions.  We measure the abnormal stock returns around the four dates illustrated in Figure 1:  the trigger event, the investigation announcement, the charges filed date, and the resolution of charges.  Many sample firms are not listed on the 2002 CRSP tapes, or stock trading was suspended for prolonged periods around the time of the investigation.  Of the 604 enforcement actions, 109 involve entities that do not have any return data listed on the CRSP tapes.  An additional 179 firms do not have listing data during the period of the enforcement action.  Data for five additional firms are not available because trading was suspended over the period of our investigation.
  This leaves a sample of 311 firms for which we have stock return data – 290 with financial reporting violations and 21 with bribery violations.


Abnormal returns are calculated as the raw return minus the contemporaneous return on the value-weighted CRSP index of all stocks including dividends.  Parametric t-statistics are calculated using the standard error of the cross-section of abnormal (market-adjusted) returns for each cell in the table.  We also report statistical significance based on the Mann-Whitney rank-sum test. 

2.  Event study results – financial reporting violations


Panel A of Table 8 reports the average abnormal one-day stock returns for the 290 firms with (alleged) financial reporting rule violations.  Results for the four types of announcement – trigger, enforcement, charges filed, and resolution – are reported in different columns.  For all 290 initial public announcements (see the second column), the mean abnormal return is -10.34%.  Both the parametric t-statistic and the non-parametric rank-sum test statistic are significantly different from zero at the 1% level.  The distribution of abnormal returns is skewed, as indicated by the median one-day abnormal return of -5.45%, but fully 94.1% of the firms have negative abnormal returns.  These results indicate that the initial announcement of a potential FCPA-related violation is associated with a statistically significant decrease in the firm's stock price, on average.


The size of the abnormal return depends on the information contained in the announcement.  For 186 of the 290 events, the initial investigation announcement indicated that the firm was under investigation for FCPA-related violations.  The mean abnormal return for these 186 events is -13.30% (the median is -8.84%).  Both parametric and nonparametric test statistics are significant at the 1% level.  In 39 additional cases, the initial announcement indicated that the SEC was taking an enforcement action.  The mean abnormal return for these firms is -7.16% (the median is -3.68%).  Again, the test statistics are significant, indicating that the announcement of a formal complaint is associated with statistically significant decreases in share value.


In 65 cases, the initial announcement indicates that the firm reached resolution of an FCPA-related investigation.  The mean abnormal return for these cases, while still significantly negative, is relatively small in magnitude (all differences between cell means are significant at the 5% level or better).  One possible explanation is that the cost of the enforcement action is relatively low for firms reaching resolution quickly.  This could be because less costly violations are likely to settle quickly, or as Nyberg (2003, p. 42) argues, penalty amounts are lowered for firms that cooperate with the government's investigation and settle quickly.  An alternative explanation is that news about these alleged violations was conveyed to investors and reflected in stock prices before the initial public announcement.  Clearly, to reach a settlement regulators must engage in prior negotiation with the target firm managers.  It is plausible that the initial announcement of these enforcement actions is less of a surprise to investors because information leaked beforehand.


For 206 of the 290 events in Panel A, we are able to identify from court documents and SEC enforcement releases the trigger events that precipitate the SEC enforcement actions.  Such events include accounting restatements, management resignations, change in auditors, and public disclosure of accounting problems.  As reported in trigger events column, the average abnormal return on the trigger events is even more negative than for the initial announcement of the enforcement action.  For all 206 trigger events, the mean abnormal return is -20.06% (the median is -14.22%).  The test statistics are significant at the 1% level.  Extremely large stock declines appear at the trigger event for all sub-groups partitioned by type of initial investigation announcement.  


Clearly, the events that trigger FCPA-related investigations tend to be significant in and of themselves.  For example, First Merchants Acceptance Corp.'s shares fell $3.38, or 51%, when it announced irregularities in the company's financial records.  As a result, the company fired its president, launched a special investigation to determine the cause of the accounting irregularities, and announced a potential restatement of the previous year’s net earnings.  Another extreme example involves Platinum Software, Inc.  Its shares fell $6.44, or 64%, when it announced a pessimistic earnings forecast, the expectation of a one-time restructuring charge to restate previously issued financial results due to revenue recognition on software licenses, and the resignation of four of its top officers including the CEO and the chief financial officer.  It is possible that the large losses experienced at the trigger events are due in part to the increased likelihood that the firm will be subject to an FCPA-related enforcement action.  If so, the loss in share value at the investigation announcement date underestimates the full cost of being targeted in an FCPA-related enforcement action.  Alternatively, the large losses generated by these trigger announcements reflect an SEC tendency to investigate firms whose announcements generate the largest market responses.  Only a portion of our trigger announcements is restatement announcements, but a study of restatement announcements by  Palmrose, Richardson and Scholz (2004) may provide some perspective on this question.  The average two-day abnormal return associated with their sample is ‑9.2% (the median is ‑4.6%) compared to an average ‑20.1% (the median is ‑14.2%) for the trigger announcements associated with the financial reporting enforcement actions in our sample. 


We also examine stock returns for two events that follow the initial investigation announcement. By construction, only firms that had a prior news release about the investigation can have a separate charges filed date.  Our sample size for this date is 116.  The second follow-up date is the resolution date, for which we have data for 68 firms.


Abnormal stock returns for the two follow-up announcements also are negative and statistically significant.  Among firms with previous announcements that revealed a pending investigation, the news that a formal charge was filed is associated with a further decrease of 5.40% in share values.  And for resolution announcements involving firms whose involvement with an enforcement action previously was publicized, the mean abnormal return is -3.63%.  These findings indicate that subsequent information about charges and the resolution of previously-known charges leads to additional losses in share values.

3.  Event study results – bribery violations


Panel B of Table 8 reports the event study results for 21 cases in which a firm was subject to an enforcement action related to the bribery provision of the FCPA.  While still negative and statistically significant, the stock price reactions to bribery actions are smaller in magnitude than for financial reporting violations.  As reported in the investigation announcement column, the mean abnormal return on the initial enforcement day for all 21 cases is -3.02%  (the median is -1.17%).  The mean abnormal return for the trigger event is -7.67%  (the median is 6.02%).  A typical example of a trigger event for bribery enforcement involves IBM.  On September 15, 1995, The Wall Street Journal reported the resignation of the president and two others from an IBM subsidiary in Argentina amid allegations that bribes were paid in a $250 million contract with state-owned bank Banco de la Nacion.


Overall, the results in Table 8 indicate that the events that trigger FCPA-related investigations, and the investigations themselves, are associated with large drops in share values, on average.  Financial reporting-related enforcement actions result in much larger share value impacts than for bribery actions.  But for both financial reporting and bribery actions, the largest losses in share values occur upon the event that triggers an FCPA-related investigation, and upon the announcement that an investigation has begun.  For financial reporting related violations in particular, there are further share value losses upon follow-up announcements relating to the specific charges filed against the firm, and the resolution of those charges.

VII. Determinants of Legal Monetary Penalties (Question #4)


In this section we examine whether the monetary penalties are related to characteristics of the violation or the firm.  This allows us to investigate two views of legal penalties.  One view is that legal penalties conform to the notion of optimal penalties as proposed by Becker (1968).  According to this view, more costly wrongdoings should be disciplined through larger penalties.  This view is reflected in many standard recommendations for legal penalties.  In determining fines to be imposed on firms for criminal frauds, for example, U.S. sentencing guidelines mandate that the fines increase with the size and scope of the violation (see United States Sentencing Commission, 2002, §8C2.4 "Base Fine").  If SEC and Department of Justice sanctions motivated by the FCPA also conform to this mandate, we should see that the size of the penalty is positively related to the size of the wrongdoing.


The second view is that legal penalties are adjusted for the characteristics of the defendant firm.  One important characteristic is firm size.  Hans (1998) and Vidmar (1993), for example, argue that larger firms are subject to relatively large penalties merely because of their deep pockets.  Another potentially important characteristic is the firm's financial health.  U.S. sentencing guidelines explicitly call for reduced fines "... to avoid substantially jeopardizing the continued viability of the organization" (see United States Sentencing Commission, 2002 §8C3.3. "Reduction of Fine Based on Inability to Pay").  We therefore conjecture that FCPA-related enforcement actions also will result in relatively small penalties for firms in financial distress.   


To test these ideas, we estimate linear models using measures of the penalties imposed on firms and individuals, plus class action awards paid, as the dependant variable.  In Model 1 of Table 9, the dependent variable includes all monetary penalties imposed on both individuals and firms.  Model 2 includes only those penalties imposed on firms.  Many enforcement actions lead to no monetary penalties, so the dependant variable is truncated from below at zero.  We therefore estimate Tobit regressions.  Because the distribution of legal monetary penalties is skewed, the dependant variable is set equal to the natural log of one plus the actual monetary penalty.  


The regressors include the natural log of the firm's market capitalization and a dummy variable that is set equal to one if the firm files bankruptcy during any part of the enforcement period, or if its debt to asset ratio exceeds 75% at the time of its enforcement action.  We use several variables to measure the size and scope of the violation.  These include:


•  the firm's cumulative abnormal stock return during the violation period.  This variable controls for the relation between prior firm performance and the penalty.  If deceptive practices tend to inflate pre-disclosure returns, larger deceptions may lead to greater cumulative abnormal returns and be associated with greater penalties..


•  a dummy variable set equal to one if the firm self-disclosed that it was subject to an FCPA-related investigation.  Discussions with SEC officials indicate that self-disclosures are made when the firm has a relatively large violation on its hands.  Smaller violations, in contrast, frequently become public news when the SEC announces its investigation and a settlement with the firm at the same time.


•  two dummy variables that represent the types of charges filed.  The first equals one if the charges include violations of the fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933.  Such charges typically involve accounting misrepresentations relating to the public issue of securities.  The second equals one if the charges include violations of the fraud provisions of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934.  Such charges typically involve such accounting problems as falsified reports and insider trading. 

•  a dummy variable that equals one if the action includes criminal proceedings.


•  the total number of administrative, civil, and criminal proceedings that occur as a result of the initial charges, and the number of days during the enforcement period.  We conjecture that larger, more complex, and costly violations will involve a greater number of proceedings and take more time to resolve.
  

The results are reported in Table 7.  In Model 1, the dependent variable is (one plus) the logarithm of all monetary penalties imposed on both individuals and firms for violations of the financial reporting provisions of the FCPA.  The penalty amount is positively and significantly related to firm size, the dummy variable for the 1934 Securities Exchange Act, and also to whether violations involve criminal proceedings, the number of proceedings, and the number of days in the enforcement period.  These results are consistent with the argument that the total penalties imposed are positively related to the size and scope of the wrongdoing.

Although not reported in the table, we estimated a model similar to Model 1, but using only penalties imposed on individuals as the dependent variable.  The results are qualitatively identical to those for Model 1, indicating that the results in Model 1 are determined by the penalties imposed on individuals.


Model 2 reports the results for penalties imposed on firms.  Firm penalties are particularly sensitive to firm characteristics.  The coefficient on firm size, for example, is much larger than in Model 1.  Cohen (1996) argues that large firms receive large legal penalties because they perpetrate more harmful crimes.  Cohen and Alexander (1996) suggest that larger firms are more likely to commit crimes, reflecting perhaps the large number of transactions in which they engage.  In our tests, however, we include controls for the size and complexity of the violation.  The fact that the coefficient on firm size remains positive and significant after such controls suggests that large firms attract large legal penalties.  This is consistent with the deep pockets arguments about legal penalties.  Firm penalties also are negatively related to whether the firm is in financial distress, consistent with the notion that penalty amounts frequently are lowered for firms in distress.  

Firm penalties are positively and significantly related to whether the firm self-disclosed the action and the number of days in the enforcement period.  This indicates that self-disclosures occur when violations are relatively severe and unlikely to be resolved quickly.  One possible explanation is that firms only self-disclose those violations that are too big to conceal.  Three of the variables that are significant in Model 1 are not significant in Model 2.  In particular, the penalty amounts imposed on firms are relatively insensitive to whether charges of fraud under the 1934 Securities Act or criminal charges are involved, and also the number of proceedings.  These characteristics are more important determinants of the penalties imposed on individuals than the penalties imposed on firms.


The results for bribery violations are reported in Models 3 and 4 of Table 9.  The number of observations is small and all coefficients are insignificant for Model 3.  Additionally, the Chi-squared test does not reject the null hypothesis at the 5% level that all coefficients are zero.  The model fit is somewhat better in Model 4, in which the dependant variable reflects the legal penalties paid by firms only.  The variables that are positive and significantly related to firm penalties are size, whether the action involved criminal violations and number of proceedings.  The coefficient on the cumulative abnormal return for the violation period is negative and significant.  These results indicate that firm penalties for bribery violations increase with firm size and two measures of the size of the violation.  The results must be reviewed cautiously, however, due to the small number of observations in the bribery sample.

VIII.  The Sizes and Sources of Share Value Loss from FCPA Enforcement Actions (Question #5)
VIII.A.  The total valuation effect

In this section we examine the reasons firm values decline so significantly during FCPA enforcement actions, and thereby provide direct measures of the size of the impact of an FCPA enforcement action on a defendant firm's reputation.  We begin by calculating a measure of the combined valuation impact of the violation and the enforcement action.  This measure is the sum of the market value reactions to all four types of announcements that are summarized in Table 8.  For each firm j, the cumulative abnormal return is 
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where ARjt is the abnormal stock return for firm j on announcement date t;  t=1 represents the trigger event, t=2 represents the investigation announcement, t=3 represents the charges filed date, and t=4 represents the resolution date.  Not all firms in the sample have all four types of announcement.  For example, by definition there is no subsequent charges filed date when the investigation announcement coincides with a SEC filing of charges.  When a firm has no data for any announcement date t, we set ARjt = 0. To calculate the effect in dollar terms, we multiply each firm's CARj by its market capitalization one day before the investigation announcement date. 


Our rationale for this measure is that all four announcements convey information about the violation and/or the cost to the firm of the enforcement action.  The trigger event, for example, reveals unfavorable information about the firm's earnings, asset values, or management.  It also increases the likelihood that the firm will be the target of an FCPA-related enforcement inquiry or action.  The investigation announcement confirms that the firm is the target of such an action.  Yet it also frequently reveals further information about the firm's earnings, asset values, and management.  Likewise, additional information about the firm and the cost of the enforcement action is revealed on the charges filed date and when a resolution of the charges is announced. 


Panel A of Table 10 reports on the size of the total valuation effect for the financial reporting violations.  The sample for these tests consists of all enforcement actions in Table 9, less 40 firms that are omitted because they are not listed in the 2002 Compustat files.  (The accounting write-off effect in Panel B requires Compustat accounting data.)  This leaves 208 firms in the financial reporting sample.  


The mean value of CARj is -26.15% (the median is -18.50%).  In dollar terms, the mean total valuation effect is a loss of $191.89 million.  The distribution of firm size is highly skewed, so the total dollar value impact also is skewed.  The median dollar loss is $18.21 million. 


VIII.B.  The sources of loss - financial reporting enforcement actions


Panel B of Table 10 partitions the market value loss into four categories.  The first category is the legal penalty effect.  This is the portion of the share value loss that is attributable to investors' expectations of monetary sanctions against the firm.  To measure the legal penalty effect, we add the monetary fines, penalties, and disgorgement eventually imposed on the firm because of the enforcement action.  If investors' expectations are rational, the actual penalty imposed is an unbiased estimate of the legal penalty reflected in the share price reaction to FCPA-related announcements.  The mean legal penalty imposed on the 208 firms is $1.875 million.  This equals 1% of the mean total loss, indicating that only 1% of the total loss is explained by the legal penalties imposed on these firms.


The second category is the class action effect.  As Table 6 reports, 25% of the firms facing financial reporting charges paid damage awards averaging $35 million as the result of their violations.  Again employing a rational expectations assumption, we use the actual amounts paid in class action settlements as a measure of the amount that investors incorporate into the share revaluations upon key announcements of the FCPA violations and enforcement actions.  The mean class action award paid by the 208 firms in the financial reporting sample is $3.93 million, which represents 2.0% of the mean total dollar value loss. 


The third category is the write-off effect.  Starting with the trigger event, an important part of the information conveyed to investors is that the firm's accounting statements contain bad information.  Indeed, the typical firm in our sample writes off $93.146 million in asset values during the period that begins with the trigger date and extends through the resolution date.  (This measure includes the total dollar value of special items (Compustat item 17), accounting charges (item 183), and charge offs (item 349) taken from Compustat in the fiscal years covered by the enforcement period.)  We use the firm's write-offs as a measure of the degree to which its financial statements previously over-reported asset values.  Using the mean value of $93.146 million, this implies that 48.5% of the total loss in share value can be attributed to (expectations of) firm write-offs.  That is, $93.146 million is a measure of the average amount by which each firm's value previously was overstated due to its accounting misrepresentations.


We suspect that the write-off effect overstates the amount by which firm value was inflated due to the firm's misleading accounting practices.  This is because investors are unlikely to be completely fooled by deceptive accounting statements, and may partially anticipate the write-offs.  In addition, not all special charges and asset write-downs reflect corrections for previously misleading accounting statements.  Special charges also include any payouts due to penalties or class actions and any reserves set aside for future payments of such.  By including all such charges and write-downs during the enforcement period, we no doubt overstate the amount written off because of FCPA-related violations.  Yet another concern is that the amounts by which asset values are written down to correct any previous misrepresentation may not correspond precisely to the market value of such write-offs.  Despite these problems, we propose that the write-off effect provides useful, albeit rough, information about the amount by which firms' asset values previously were overstated.  


The fourth and final category of firm loss is the operations and reputation effect.  This reflects any of several specific impacts of the trigger event and the subsequent SEC investigation on the firm's current and expected future operations.  As one example, current managers may be indicted, lose their jobs, or be required to divert time and energy to the investigation rather than attending to company business.  The investigation also could force the firm to forego (possibly illegal) activities that previously were profitable, or to adopt new monitoring and control policies that increase the cost of operations.  Most significantly, operating performance can change if the firm's reputation is affected.  As Karpoff and Lott (1993) argue, diminished reputation can increase the firm's cost of raising capital, receiving trade credit, or contracting with suppliers.  It also can result in lower future revenues if customers doubt the quality of the firm's guarantees to support warranties or supply compatible services or parts in the future.  We group all such effects into the operations and reputation effect. 


Our measure of this effect is a residual:  it is the portion of the total dollar impact that is not explained by the legal penalty, class action, and write-off effects.  In this respect, our empirical approach is similar to that used by Jarrell and Peltzman (1985) to estimate the reputational impacts of product recalls, and by Karpoff, Lee, and Vendrzyk (1999) to examine reputational impacts of defense procurement frauds.  For financial reporting violations, the operations and reputation effect constitutes a large fraction of the total loss.  The mean is $92.94 million, or 48.4% of the mean total loss.  This indicates that 48.4% of firms' losses during the enforcement period can be attributed to degraded operations or lost reputation.  


The overall story is similar if we use medians instead of mean values.  For the financial reporting-related enforcement actions, the median dollar loss in firm value is $18.211 million.  Very little of this is attributable to expected legal penalties or class action awards.  The median write-off effect is relatively large ($5.972 million), as is the median operations and reputation effect ($4.725 million).  (Note that the sum of the median sources of loss need not equal the overall median loss in firm value.)  That is, firms' losses from FCPA violations and enforcement actions are most attributable to the write-off and operations/reputation effects.


These results provide insight into the nature of the penalties paid by firms for misrepresenting their financial statements.  Using the mean values as point estimates, firms that are charged and cited for cheating on their books lose an average of $191.89 million in share value as shareholders learn of the violation and its potential consequences.  Roughly 48.5% of this loss represents a revaluation to what the firm's value would have been had its managers not misrepresented its financial position in the first place (i.e., the write-off effect).  This 48.5% can be thought of as a correction to a more complete information value of the firm.  Approximately 1% of the loss represents prospective penalties from SEC and Department of Justice enforcement actions, and an additional 2% represents prospective class action settlements.  The final 48.4% represents lost firm value via degraded operations and reputation.  That is, for every dollar that firm value was inflated due to illegal representations, the firm loses that dollar plus $1.06 more [$1.00/$0.485 = $2.06].  Of this $1.06, 6 cents is for penalties paid to the government and harmed shareholders, and $1.00 is from degraded operations and reputation.

  
Such point estimates are, of course, very rough.  But it is noteworthy that they are consistent with several previous attempts to measure the importance of reputational losses from other types of corporate misconduct.  In particular, reputational losses are significant for false advertising (Peltzman, 1981), product recalls (Jarrell and Peltzman, 1985), air safety disasters (Mitchell and Maloney, 1989), frauds of private parties (Karpoff and Lott, 1993), investigations of IPO underwriters (Beatty, Bunsis, and Hand 1998), and defense procurement fraud (Karpoff, Lee, and Vendrzyk, 1999).


Our results also are consistent with theoretical arguments about the importance of reputational effects in disciplining corporate misconduct.  Klein and Leffler (1982) show how reputation deters fraudulent representations, and Karpoff and Lott (1993) argue that the reputational penalties for some types of corporate wrongdoing should be larger than for other types.  We would expect the reputational penalties for financial misrepresentations, in particular, to be large.  This is because such misrepresentations undermine the firm's credibility with investors, and possibly also with suppliers, employees, and customers.  This raises the cost of new financing, trade credit, and contracting.  To the extent that customers question the firm's commitment to delivering on its implicit guarantees for quality, replacement parts, or service, a decrease in reputation also can decrease sales.  The net effect is to decrease the firm's net cash flows.  Thus, our empirical results are consistent with the argument that reputational effects help discipline financial misrepresentations – indeed, our point estimates indicate that the reputational losses are sixteen times the penalties imposed through the regulatory and legal system.  


VIII.C.  Comparison between the financial reporting and bribery reputation effects


Whereas the operations and reputation effect is large and significant for financial reporting violations, such is not the case for bribery violations.  Although not reported in a table, the mean value of CARj is ‑5.54% for the 16 firms attracting bribery enforcement actions for which we have sufficient data (the median is -2.71%).  The mean dollar value loss is $58.156 million (the median is $3.635 million).  


The mean value of the legal penalty effect for the firms in the bribery sample is $7.509 million, which equals 12.9% of the mean total dollar loss.  None of the 16 firms in this sample has award judgments from class action lawsuits due to bribery.  Many of the firms subject to bribery enforcement actions also were charged with financial reporting violations, to which they responded by taking large write-downs on their asset values.  The mean total amount of these firms' write offs during the enforcement period is $293.3 million - an amount that is much larger than the mean amount of the total dollar loss.  That is, these firms' write-offs more than explain the stock price reaction to news of their FCPA-related violations.


Large outliers influence the point estimate of the write off effect, and a test for statistical significance indicates that the write off effect is not significantly different from zero at the 5% level. Thus, we place little weight on the point estimates in making inferences from these results.  Rather, the results indicate that the legal penalty and write-off effects more than explain the total dollar value loss for bribery-related enforcement actions.  There is no evidence that the operations and reputation effect plays an important role in disciplining violations of the FCPA's bribery provisions. 


This result also is consistent with previous findings.  Karpoff and Lott (1993) argue that reputational penalties are unlikely to discipline all types of corporate misconduct.  Consistent with this argument, they find that certain regulatory violations, such as check kiting, impose no reputational penalty on the guilty firm.  Similarly, Karpoff, Lott, and Wehrly (2003) find that environmental polluters incur no reputational penalties, on average.  In both cases, the parties with whom the firm does business are not adversely impacted by the wrongdoing, and any harm that is done generally is imposed on parties with whom the firm does not do business.  A firm dumping effluent into a river, for example, does not directly harm its customers or suppliers, and therefore does not pay through lower sales or higher contracting costs.


A similar argument applies to FCPA-related bribery violations.  Although the bribes are illegal, it is not evident that any parties with whom a bribing firm does business are harmed, or even fooled, by the payment of bribes.  Our finding of a non-negative operations and reputation effect is consistent with the conclusion that the reputational penalty for bribery violations is negligible.  Thus, while financial reporting-related misrepresentations impose reputational costs on the guilty firm, no such market-driven costs are imposed on firms that are discovered to violate anti-bribery rules.  The primary discipline imposed on such firms comes from SEC and Department of Justice enforcement actions, not from market transactions.

  
IX.  Conclusions


Scandals involving Enron Corp., WorldCom, Inc., and other U.S. corporations helped create a presumption among politicians and pundits that penalties for corporate misconduct are virtually non-existent.  This presumption contributed to passage of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in July 2002.  The evidence in this paper, however, undermines this presumption.  We document the enforcement actions taken by the SEC under the powers granted to it by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977.  Like Sarbanes-Oxley, the FCPA was passed with widespread support in the wake of a series of corporate scandals.  From 1978-2002, the SEC used FCPA provisions to bring 604 enforcement actions, at an annual rate that grew substantially during this period.


Despite its name, only a small number (7%) of the SEC's FCPA-related enforcement actions have anything to do with the anti-bribery provision of the FCPA.  The large majority of FCPA-related enforcement actions (93%) are to discipline financial misrepresentations.  Legal penalties in these actions can be substantial.  A total of 691 individuals have been censured, suspended from professional practice, or barred from service as officers or directors of public corporations.  Sixty-six people have been incarcerated, with a mean sentence of 4.5 years.  


The monetary penalties paid by firms also can be significant.  A total of 36 firms have been fined an average of $94 million through SEC and DOJ actions, and 118 firms have paid an average amount of $35 million to settle class action lawsuits arising from the misrepresentations.  Twenty-two corporations have had their registrations revoked.  We find that the size of the monetary penalties imposed on firms and individuals is positively related to firm size, supporting a deep-pockets view of legal penalties.  The penalty amount also is positively related to two measures of the size and scope of the violation – whether the firm self-disclosed the action and the length of the enforcement period.    


Although the legal penalties for financial reporting-related violations sometimes are large, the market penalties imposed on firm shareholders are larger and more widespread.  The initial announcement of an SEC enforcement action is associated with an average decline in the target firm's stock value of 10.34%.  This is in addition to a decrease of 20.06% upon a prior announcement that initially triggered the SEC's FCPA-related inquiry in the first place.  The legal penalties and class action lawsuits explain a small portion – an average of 3% – of the market value losses.  A large fraction – 48.5% – can be to write-downs as these firms are forced to correct misrepresentations in their financial statements.  These results imply that a large portion of these firms' market value losses – 48.4% – is due to expectations of impaired operations and decreased future earnings.  


Previous research (e.g., Jarrell and Peltzman, 1985) indicates that a principle component of such operating losses is lost reputation.  Our results therefore are consistent with the argument that financial reporting violations bring large market penalties because they impose large harms on investors, and possibly also such other parties as suppliers and customers.  Our point estimates indicate that, for every dollar that firm value was inflated due to illegal financial representations, the firm loses that dollar plus $1.06 more.  Of this $1.06, just 6 cents is for expected legal penalties and $1.00 is from degraded operations and reputation.  This implies that reputational penalties – in the form of higher financing and contracting costs, and possibly lower operating earnings – are a much larger deterrent to financial reporting violations than are penalties imposed through the legal system.


This interpretation of the data is supported by our empirical findings for bribery violations.  The legal and market penalties for bribery violations, although economically meaningful and statistically significant, are much smaller than for financial misrepresentations.  The value losses from bribery violations can be completely explained by legal penalties and asset write-offs.  This implies that reputational penalties for bribery violations are negligible, as should be expected if bribes tend not to harm a firm's investors, customers, or suppliers.  Because such market penalties are small, the primary deterrent to violating the bribery provisions of the FCPA is the prospect of legal penalties imposed through SEC and DOJ actions.  


Overall, our evidence indicates that corporate wrongdoing is penalized, but in ways that depend on the type of misconduct.  Legal penalties for both firms and individual managers frequently are substantial.  But market penalties – and in particular, lost reputation – constitute the lion's share of the monetary penalties paid by firms for financial misrepresentation.  A focus on purely legal penalties therefore would miss the most important cost to shareholders of firms that misrepresent their financial statements.  And it would miss the important role that reputation plays in handing out different levels of penalty for different types of corporate misconduct.  
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Table 1:  Summary of Empirical Results and Answers to the Five Basic Questions
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Table 2.  Type and Timing of Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Enforcement Actions

Distribution of enforcement actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act from inception to 2002.  Financial reporting actions are violations of the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78(m(b)(2) and (5), and 17 C.F.R. 240 13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of FCPA foreign bribery provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).

	
	Enforcement Announcements

	Year
	Total
	Financial reporting
	Bribery


	1978
	3
	1
	2

	1979
	6
	2
	4

	1980
	3
	2
	1

	1981
	12
	10
	2

	1982
	12
	8
	4

	1983
	12
	12
	-

	1984
	11
	11
	-

	1985
	20
	18
	2

	1986
	19
	18
	1

	1987
	32
	32
	-

	1988
	15
	14
	1

	1989
	25
	21
	4

	1990
	25
	22
	3

	1991
	19
	18
	1

	1992
	17
	17
	-

	1993
	20
	18
	2

	1994
	35
	33
	2

	1995
	34
	34
	-

	1996
	50
	49
	1

	1997
	37
	36
	1

	1998
	24
	21
	3

	1999
	37
	34
	3

	2000
	33
	33
	-

	2001
	38
	36
	2

	2002
	65
	62
	3

	Total
	604
	562
	42


Table 3:  Distribution by Industry and Firm Size of Enforcement Actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

Distribution of FCPA enforcement actions from its inception to 2002 by SIC-based industry definitions and size decile.  We use COMPSTAT SIC codes from the fiscal year end of the initial announcement.  Size decile reflects the firm’s pre-announcement market value of equity relative to NYSE, AMEX, and NASDAQ firms in the CRSP database.  Recidivism occurs when an enforcement action is taken more than once against a firm.  Chi-Square test rejects the null hypotheses that enforcement actions are uniformly distributed across industries and across firm size.

	2-digit SIC Brackets
	Industry
	Sized-Based Deciles
	Not Listed†
	Recidivism

	
	
	Larger Firms
	
	
	Smaller Firms
	
	#Actions/Firm
	Total # Actions

	
	
	10
	9
	8
	7
	6
	5
	4
	3
	2
	1
	
	1
	2
	

	01-09
	Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing
	
	
	1
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1
	
	

	10-14
	Mining
	1
	1
	1
	1
	1
	
	1
	3
	2
	1
	5
	17
	
	17

	15-17
	Construction
	
	
	
	2
	
	4
	3
	
	
	2
	1
	12
	
	12

	20-39
	Manufacturing
	17
	11
	15
	27
	21
	21
	19
	26
	18
	29
	9
	213
	2
	215

	40-49
	Transportation, Communication, Electric, Gas & Sanitary Services
	3
	3
	2
	3
	
	3
	4
	1
	3
	3
	3
	28
	
	28

	50-51
	Wholesale Trade
	2
	
	1
	4
	1
	1
	3
	7
	5
	5
	3
	32
	1
	33

	52-59
	Retail Trade
	2
	2
	3
	2
	2
	3
	5
	1
	5
	5
	
	30
	
	30

	60-67
	Finance, Insurance, & Real Estate
	16
	4
	3
	5
	7
	3
	7
	6
	4
	13
	2
	70
	2
	72

	70-89
	Services
	9
	3
	11
	12
	14
	4
	9
	9
	10
	14
	4
	99
	1
	100

	
	Unclassified
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	1
	95
	96
	
	96

	
	Total
	50
	24
	37
	56
	46
	39
	51
	53
	47
	73
	122
	598
	6
	604


†Firms that cannot be classified into size deciles because they were not listed in CRSP.

Table 4:
Types of Enforcement Actions against Firms Violating the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

Financial reporting actions are violations of the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78(m(b)(2) and (5), and 17 C.F.R. 240 13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of FCPA foreign bribery provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).  Administrative proceedings are formal actions taken by the SEC.  Litigation proceedings are civil actions tried in the judicial branch and criminal proceedings are parallel criminal actions.  AAERs (Accounting and Auditing Releases) are issued by the SEC to divulge enforcement actions.

	
	Type of Enforcement Action
	Difference Tests

	
	Financial reporting
	Bribery
	t-value
	Prob>|t|

	Number of enforcement actions
	562
	42
	
	

	Number of administrative proceedings
	774
	8
	
	

	Per enforcement action
	1.38
	0.19
	9.56
	<.0001

	Number of litigation proceedings
	951
	23
	
	

	Per enforcement action
	1.69
	0.55
	7.27
	<.0001

	Number of AAERs issued
	1,216
	18
	
	

	Per enforcement action
	2.16
	0.43
	8.59
	<.0001

	Number of criminal proceedings 
	76
	48
	
	

	Per enforcement action
	0.14
	1.14
	-7.65
	<.0001


Table 5:
Non-FCPA Charges Brought against Firms Violating the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

Non-FCPA charges brought against 562 firms that violated the financial reporting sections and 42 firms that violated the bribery sections of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, 1978-2002.  Firms are classified by the most serious charge levied under the 1933 Securities Act, 1934 Securities Exchange Act, and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in the enforcement action. 

	
	Financial Reporting Enforcement
Actions
	Bribery

Enforcement
Actions
	Total

	Only FCPA-related charges
	
31
	
16
	
47

	FCPA charges accompanied with fraud charges
	
431
	
9
	
440

	FCPA charges accompanied by charges of other reporting violations, but no fraud charges
	
94
	
0
	
94

	FCPA charges accompanied by non-reporting violations, but no fraud charges
	
     6 
	
  17
	
     23

	Total 
	
562
	
42
	
604

	
	
	
	

	Fraud charges:
	
	
	

	· Under the 1933 Securities Act
	
266
	
3
	
269

	· Under the 1934 Securities Exchange Act
	
428
	
9
	
437

	· Under the 1933 Securities Act only
	
3
	
0
	
3

	· Under the 1934 Securities Exchange Act only
	
165
	
6
	
171

	· Under both Securities Acts
	
263
	
3
	
266

	
	
	
	


Table 6:  Penalties for Individuals Resulting from FCPA Violations

Size and frequency of monetary and non-monetary penalties imposed on individuals under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  Financial reporting actions are violations of the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78(m(b)(2) and (5), and 17 C.F.R. 240 13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of FCPA foreign bribery provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).  Monetary penalties include fines, disgorgement, and other forms of restitution.  Incarcerations refer to prison sentences and house arrest.  Officer and director bars refer to the prohibition of serving as an officer or director of a public firm.  Censures are formal reprimands issued by the SEC to third parties such as auditors.

	
	
	Type of Enforcement Action
	Difference Tests

	
	
	Financial reporting
	Bribery
	t-Value
	Prob>|t|

	Enforcement actions 
	N
	562
	42
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Individuals cited
	N
	1,874
	102
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Individual monetary penalties
	N1
	232
	19
	
	

	     Penalty amounts
	Total
	$8,720,981,000
	$11,828,000
	
	

	
	Mean
	$37,590,000
	$623,000
	1.26
	0.2103

	
	Median
	$212,000
	$45,000
	
	

	
	Min
	$3,000
	$5,000
	
	

	
	Max2
	$6,800,000,000
	$9,815,456
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	     Officer and director bars
	N
	336
	  5
	
	

	     Other suspensions/bars
	N
	337
	  2
	
	

	     Censures
	N
	  18
	  0
	
	

	Total bars, suspensions, and censures
	Total
	691
	  7
	
	

	     Per enforcement action
	Mean
	1.23
	0.17
	6.45
	< .0001

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Individuals incarcerated
	N
	66
	8
	
	

	     Years of incarceration
	Total
	296.3
	14.2
	
	

	
	Mean
	4.5
	1.8
	1.98
	0.0451

	
	Median
	2.5
	1.0
	
	

	
	Min
	0.3
	0.2
	
	

	
	Max
	70.0
	7.0
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Individuals placed on probation
	N
	32
	18
	
	

	     Years of probation
	Total
	95.0
	44.2
	
	

	
	Mean
	3.0
	2.5
	1.70
	0.0962

	
	Median
	3.0
	3.0
	
	

	
	Min
	2.0
	1.0
	
	

	
	Max
	6.0
	5.0
	
	


1.  Number of times one or more individuals associated with one firm were assessed monetary penalties.

2. $6.8B total penalties were assessed in failed Lincoln Savings & Loan (American Continental Corp).

Table 7:  Penalties for Firms Resulting from FCPA Violations

Penalties imposed by the SEC and DOJ and through class action and derivative lawsuits relating to enforcement actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.   Class action lawsuits may be brought by shareholders against the firm, or its directors and officers, as a result of the financial reporting related charges named in government enforcement actions.  Derivative lawsuits may be brought by shareholders against the directors and officers on behalf of the firm with awards and settlements being paid to the firm.  Any amounts paid to firms as a result of derivative actions are netted out in the "Payments by Firms" numbers.  Financial reporting actions are violations of the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78(m(b)(2) and (5), and 17 C.F.R. 240 13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of FCPA foreign bribery provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).
	
	Type of Enforcement Action
	Difference Tests

	
	Financial reporting
	Bribery
	t-value
	Prob>|t|

	Panel A:  Non-Monetary Sanctions Imposed through SEC and DOJ Actions

	Enforcement Actions Resulting in

Monetary Penalties to the Firm
	N
	562
	42
	
	

	Cease and Desist Order
	N
	282
	  6
	
	

	Permanent Injunction
	N
	472
	23
	
	

	Remediation
	N
	116
	  9
	
	

	Registration Revocation
	N
	  22
	  0
	
	

	Total Non-monetary Actions
	Total
	892
	38
	
	

	
	Mean
	1.59
	0.90
	4.39
	<.0001

	Panel B:  Monetary Penalties Imposed through SEC and DOJ Actions

	Firm Monetary Penalties
	N
	36
	24
	
	

	
	Total
	$3,379,743,000
	$128,411,000
	
	

	
	Mean
	$93,882,000
	$5,350,000
	1.39
	0.1718

	
	Median
	$1,125,000
	$300,000
	
	

	
	Min
	$0
	$1,000
	
	

	
	Max
	$2,250,000,000
	$69,000,000


	
	

	Panel C:  Damage Awards through Class Action and Derivative Lawsuits

	Payments by Firms
	N
	118
	1
	
	

	
	Total
	$4,135,433,000
	
	
	

	
	Mean
	$35,046,000
	$14,850,000
	0.13
	0.8982

	
	Median
	$2,438,000
	
	
	

	
	Min
	$0
	
	
	

	
	Max
	$2,830,000,000
	
	
	

	Payments by Individuals, D&O

Insurance and Other Parties
	N
	141
	1
	
	

	
	Total
	$1,997,723,000
	
	
	

	
	Mean
	$14,168,000
	$14,850,000
	-0.02
	0.9863

	
	Median
	$2,175,000
	
	
	

	
	Min
	$0
	
	
	

	
	Max
	$355,000
	
	
	

	Class Action and Derivative Suit

Awards
	N
	141
	1
	
	

	
	Total
	$6,133,156,000
	
	
	

	
	Mean
	$43,498,000
	$16,310,000
	0.10
	0.9196

	
	Median
	$6,200,000
	
	
	

	
	Min
	$75,000
	
	
	

	
	Max
	$3,165,000,000
	
	
	


Table 8: Abnormal Returns for FCPA-related Actions

Average one-day market-adjusted returns for 290 financial reporting enforcement actions (Panel A) and 21 bribery enforcement actions (Panel B).  Events are grouped by announcement type and by initial versus subsequent revelations of potential violations.  Abnormal returns are measured relative to the value-weighted CRSP index.  Each cell reports the mean and median (in parentheses) abnormal return, the proportion of negative abnormal returns, and the number of announcements.  Asterisks adjoining means indicate significance levels for parametric t-tests; asterisks adjoining medians indicate significance levels for the Mann-Whitney rank sum test.  The number of resolution announcements is lower than the number of investigation announcements because 93 of the firms with financial reporting infractions and 1 firm with a bribery infraction were delisted before their resolution announcements.  In addition, 16 of the financial reporting infractions were unresolved as of December 31, 2002 (the last date for which stock return data are available on the 2002 CRSP files).

	Panel A: Financial Reporting Enforcement Actions

	Investigation Announcement Type
	Trigger Event
	FCPA Financial reporting Violation Announcements

	
	
	Investigation Announcement
	Subsequent Announcements
	All

Announcements

	
	
	
	Charges Filed

Date
	Resolution Announcement
	

	Inquiry/investigation
	-22.31%***
	-13.30%***
	
	
	-17.04%***

	
	(-17.98%)***
	(-8.84%)***
	
	
	(-11.62%)***

	
	97.7%
	96.2%
	
	
	96.9%

	
	n = 132
	n = 186
	
	
	n = 318

	Initial proceeding
	-15.24%***
	-7.16%***
	-6.63%***
	
	-8.67%***

	
	(-9.01%)***
	(-3.68%)***
	(-4.50%)***
	
	(-5.16%)***

	
	90.0%
	92.3%
	94.1%
	
	92.7%

	
	n = 30
	n = 39
	n = 68
	
	n = 137

	Resolution proceeding
	-16.58%***
	-3.77%***
	-3.66%***
	-3.63%***
	-6.21%***

	
	(-11.71%)***
	(-2.30%)***
	(-1.60%)***
	(-3.12%)***
	(-3.47%)***

	
	100.0%
	89.2%
	83.3%
	88.2%
	89.8%

	
	n = 44
	n = 65
	n = 48
	n = 68
	n = 225

	All announcements
	-20.06%***
	-10.34%***
	-5.40%***
	-3.63%***
	-11.77%***

	
	(-14.22%)***
	(-5.45%)***
	(-3.11%)***
	(-3.12%)***
	(-5.87%)***

	
	97.1%
	94.1%
	89.7%
	88.2%
	93.7%

	
	n = 206
	n = 290
	n = 116
	n = 68
	n = 680


Table 8: Abnormal Returns for FCPA-related Actions (continued)

	Panel B: Bribery Provision Enforcement Actions

	Investigation Announcement Type
	Trigger Event
	FCPA Bribery Violation Announcements

	
	
	Investigation Announcement
	Subsequent Announcements
	All

Announcements

	
	
	
	Charges Filed

Date
	Resolution Announcement
	

	Inquiry/investigation
	-11.37%**
	-3.91%
	
	
	-7.02%***

	
	(-9.45%)*
	(-2.59%)
	
	
	(-4.49%)***

	
	100.0%
	71.4%
	
	
	83.3%

	
	n = 5
	n = 7
	
	
	n = 12

	Initial proceeding
	-5.20%
	-2.98%**
	-0.28%
	
	-3.14%***

	
	(-1.93%)
	(-0.93%)***
	(-0.13%)
	
	(-0.88%)***

	
	80.0%
	90.9%
	66.7%
	
	84.2%

	
	n = 5
	n = 11
	n = 3
	
	n = 19

	Resolution proceeding
	-1.56%
	-1.05%
	-0.01%
	-1.23%*
	-0.99%**

	
	(-1.56%)
	(-0.85%)
	(-0.35%)
	(-0.67%)*
	(-0.69%)**

	
	100.0%
	66.7%
	75.0%
	76.9%
	76.2%

	
	n = 1
	n = 3
	n = 4
	n = 13
	n = 21

	All announcements
	-7.67%***
	-3.02%***
	-0.13%
	-1.23%*
	-3.17%***

	
	(-6.02%)***
	(-1.17%)***
	(-0.13%)
	(-0.67%)*
	(-1.11%)***

	
	90.9%
	81.0%
	71.4%
	76.9%
	80.8%

	
	n = 11
	n = 21
	n = 7
	n = 13
	n = 52


***
Significant at the 0.01 level

**
Significant at the 0.05 level

*
Significant at the 0.10 level

Table 9:
Determinants of Monetary Penalties Imposed for Violations of the Financial reporting Provisions of the FCPA

Tobit regressions of total and firm monetary penalties from class action awards and penalties from FCPA-based actions.  The dependent variable is the natural logarithm of total class action awards and monetary penalties paid by all parties.  The independent variables are:  the natural logarithm of market capitalization one day before the first announcement; a dummy variable reflecting financial distress (if the firm enters bankruptcy or has a debt/asset ratio exceeding 75%); the violation period cumulative abnormal return; dummy variables reflecting whether the firm self-disclosed the investigation, whether the action included 1933 Securities Act fraud charges, whether the action included 1934 Securities Exchange Act fraud charges, and whether the action included criminal charges; the total number of proceedings defined as the sum of administrative releases, litigation releases, and criminal cases involved with the action; and the total number of days during the enforcement period.  The bribery regression omits the financial distress dummy due to collinearity.

	
	Financial reporting
	Bribery

	Intercept
	Value
	-24.136
	-33.154

	
	Pr > |t|
	<.001
	0.120

	Ln (market capitalization)
	Value
	1.873
	2.304

	
	Pr > |t|
	<.001
	0.110

	Financial distress dummy
	Value
	-0.797
	

	  (1 if firm in financial distress, 0 otherwise)
	Pr > |t|
	0.481
	

	Cumulative abnormal return for violation period
	Value
	0.005
	4.659

	
	Pr > |t|
	0.971
	0.566

	Self-disclosure dummy 
	Value
	1.266
	-12.462

	  (1 if firm self-disclosed problem, 0 otherwise)
	Pr > |t|
	0.295
	0.591

	Proxies for the size and scope of the violation:
	
	
	

	1933 Securities Act Fraud dummy 
	Value
	0.118
	-15.079

	  (1 if action included 1933 S.E.C. charges, 0 otherwise)
	Pr > |t|
	0.926
	0.232

	1934 Securities Act Fraud dummy 
	Value
	4.405
	-4.227

	  (1 if action included 1934 S.E.A. charges, 0 otherwise)
	Pr > |t|
	0.004
	0.591

	Criminal dummy
	Value
	5.341
	2.792

	  (1 if action included criminal charges, 0 otherwise)
	Pr > |t|
	0.004
	0.645

	Number of proceedings
	Value
	0.815
	6.582

	
	Pr > |t|
	0.004
	0.110

	Number of days in the enforcement period
	Value
	0.002
	0.004

	
	Pr > |t|
	0.024
	0.452

	Log Likelihood
	-948.11
	-42.06

	LR Chi-square
	131.19
	12.62

	Prob > Chi-square
	<.001
	0.126

	Number of Observations
	392
	18

	Missing Observations
	100
	20

	Left Censored Observations
	170
	7

	Uncensored Observations
	222
	11


Table 10:  Sources of Firms’ Losses from FCPA Financial Reporting Enforcement Actions

The total valuation effect on firms undergoing enforcement actions for financial misrepresentation under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  Financial enforcement actions are for violations of the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C.§§ 78M(B)(2) and (5), 17 C.F.R. 240 13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  To be included in this table, firms must have data available on COMPUSTAT during the enforcement period.  Cumulative abnormal returns are based on the value-weighted index of all stocks in CRSP.  Dollar Value Impact is calculated as the change in total market capitalization across the announcement dates.  Sources of Dollar Value Impact are legal penalties, class action settlements, and the dollar value of accounting write-offs in the fiscal years of the enforcement period calculated by summing special items (COMPUSTAT Item 17), accounting charges (Item 183), and charge offs (Item 349).  The Operations and Reputation Effect is the total Dollar Value Impact minus the legal penalty, class action, and write-off effects.

	Panel A:  Size of the Total Valuation Effect

	Cumulative  abnormal  return                 
	N
	208
	

	
	Mean
	‑26.15%
	

	
	Median
	‑18.50%
	

	Dollar Value Impact:
	
	
	

	Trigger event announcement
	Mean
	-$94,585,000
	

	
	Median
	-$4,086,000
	

	Investigation announcement
	Mean
	-$24,235,000
	

	
	Median
	-$4,766,000
	

	Charges filed date
	Mean
	-$70,912,000
	

	
	Median
	0
	

	Resolution announcement
	Mean
	-$2,158,000
	

	
	Median
	0
	

	Total
	Mean
	-$191,890,000
	

	
	Median
	-$18,211,000
	

	Panel B:  Sources of the Dollar Value Impact

	Sources:
	
	
	% of Total

	Legal penalty effect
	Mean
	-$1,875,000
	1.0%

	
	Median
	0
	

	Class action effect
	Mean
	-$3,930,000
	2.0%

	
	Median
	0
	

	Write-off effect
	Mean
	-$93,146,000
	48.5%

	
	Median
	-$5,972,000
	

	Operations and reputation effect
	Mean
	-$92,940,000
	48.4%

	
	Median
	-$4,725,000
	


Figure 1. Definitions and Typical Progression of Event Dates in an FCPA Enforcement Action

[image: image3.wmf][image: image4.wmf][image: image5.wmf][image: image6.wmf][image: image7.wmf][image: image8.wmf]Financial 

misrepresentation

Bribery

Q1:  Does the SEC act?

Yes.  562 actions since 1978.

Infrequent.  44 actions.

Q2:  Individual penalties?

Yes.  Can be large.

Infrequent, but can be large.

Q3:  Corporate penalties?

      

 -Non-monetary

Frequent

Less frequent

   

    -Monetary

25% of cases; can be large

50% of cases; much smaller.

  

     -Share value loss

Extremely large

Much smaller

Q4:  Optimal penalties?

Yes - related to the size and 

scope of the violation

Few statistically significant 

relationships.

Larger penalties for financial misrepresentation than for 

bribery

Q5:  Reputation effects?

Yes - accounts for one-half 

the share value loss

No.


Enforcement Period





� EMBED Excel.Sheet.8  ���








Violation Period





Filings and Reports





Resolution Event





Charges filed date





Investigation Announcement





�





�





�





Period over which books and records are found to be in error





Press release by firm�-Informal inquiry


	-Formal investigation


First SEC release�-Informal inquiry


	-Formal investigation





Final action


Settlement


Trial


Punishment


Last SEC release





First SEC release


(if not at investigation announcement)


	-Administrative release


	-Litigation release


	-Securities Act Release


	-Exchange Act Release


	-Accounting and 	Auditing Enforcement 	Release (AAER)





Self disclosure


Earnings restatement


Management change


Auditor change


Delay in filings


Shareholder lawsuits


Unusual trading


Whistle blower


Periodic SEC review





Trigger Event





�











� The N.Y. Times, July 8, 2002.


� See http://www.sec.gov/rules/proposed/34-48626.htm.





� SEC v. WorldCom, Inc., Civil Action 02 CV 4963 (S.D.N.Y.) (June 27, 2002).


� See Securities and Exchange Commission v. Kevin A. Howard, Michael W. Krautz, Kenneth D. Rice, Joseph Hirko, Kevin P. Hannon, Rex T. Shelby, and F. Scott Yeager, Civil Action No. H-03-0905 (Harmon) (SDTX) (May 1, 2003) (Amended Complaint);  SEC Litigation Release 18030 / March 12, 2003 and 18122 / May 1, 2003;  SEC Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Release No. 1738 / March 12, 2003 and 1771 / May 1, 2003.   


� Some researchers (e.g., Bonner, Palmrose, and Young 1998) use SEC Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases (AAERs) to identify instances of financial misconduct.  We find, however, that the SEC issues one or more AAER in only 75% of the enforcement actions it initiates for financial reporting violations.  


 


� In the Klein-Leffler (1981) model, the reputational penalty equals the value of the quasi-rents from continued high-quality performance (W2 in equation (2) on p. 622), or equivalently, the nonsalvageable capital investment that depreciates to zero value if the firm engages in misconduct (ß in equation (7) on p. 626). 





� These totals include penalties from 25 enforcement actions and 11 class actions that were settled after December 31, 2002.  As of July 31, 2003, 77 of the financial reporting enforcement actions and two bribery enforcement actions in the sample were still pending, as were 35 financial reporting and two bribery-related class actions.





� “Lockheed Says It Paid $22 Million to Get Contracts,” Wall Street Journal, August 4, 1975.


� Section 30A of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a)).


� Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)).


� Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(B)).


� U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission v. America Online, Inc., Civ No. 1:00CV01088 (PLF), (D.D.C. May 15, 2000).  The specific sections covered by the cease and desist order are sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of  the Exchange Act, and Exchange Act Rules 13a-1 and 13a-13.





� “How the Antibribery Act Strengthens Securities Laws: Recent Court Cases of Importance to Business,"  Business Week, October, 17, 1983, page 108.


� Source: Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Reporter.  Business Laws, Inc. 2000.  Used with permission.  All rights reserved.  http://www.businesslaws.com.


� Source: Lexis-Nexis Academic Universe.   Reed Elsevier Inc. 2001.  Used with permission.  All rights reserved.  � HYPERLINK "http://www.lexis-nexis.com" ��http://www.lexis-nexis.com�.





� The SEC is authorized by section 21(a) of the Exchange Act of 1934 to publish information concerning any violations of the Act (see the Standard & Poor's Review of Securities & Commodities Regulation, Vol.28, No.7; Pg. 71). By practice, however, the SEC does not announce potential targets of investigations nor does it confirm or deny inquiries of its actions to the press.





� Criminal and civil versions of the same charge are counted as separate charges; otherwise multiple violations of the same charge against the firm or related party are not counted twice.





� Should civil or criminal penalties even be imposed on firms instead of individuals?  That is, does it make sense to penalize shareholders for managers' actions?  The answer can be yes – if corporate monitoring controls managers' activities at lower cost than through direct government oversight.  If, however, monitoring through the corporate structure offers no advantages over direct government monitoring, direct penalties on individual managers is optimal (see, for examples, Polinsky and Shavell (1993); Arlen 1994).  In this paper we take an agnostic view toward this debate, and instead focus on documenting the size and nature of the penalties imposed on individuals and firms.    


� See the SEC’s Administrative Proceeding File No. 3-10255 and AAER No. 1272 released June 14, 2000.


� It is reasonable to believe that the exclusion of firms for which trading was suspended will result in estimates that understate the valuation losses.





� A clarifying note may help here.  As indicated in the third row of Table 8A, 65 of the 290 actions were resolved when the initial announcement was made.  An additional 48 were resolved upon the charges filed date, and 68 were resolved later (defining the resolution date for these cases).  Thus, we have no resolution dates for 109 of the 290 enforcement actions in Table 8A.  Of these, 93 involve firms that were delisted before a final resolution of their charges, and 16 cases were unresolved as of December 31, 2002, the last day with data on the 2002 CRSP files.
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Table 1

		TABLE 1

		Temporal distribution of Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement actions

						Enforcement Announcements

		Year				Total				Accounting				Bribery

		1978				3				1				2

		1979				6				2				4

		1980				3				2				1

		1981				12				10				2

		1982				12				8				4

		1983				12				12				-

		1984				11				11				-

		1985				20				18				2

		1986				19				18				1

		1987				32				32				-

		1988				15				14				1

		1989				25				21				4

		1990				25				22				3

		1991				19				18				1

		1992				17				17				-

		1993				20				18				2

		1994				35				33				2

		1995				34				34				-

		1996				50				49				1

		1997				37				36				1

		1998				24				21				3

		1999				37				34				3

		2000				33				33				-

		2001				38				36				2

		2002				65				62				3

		Total				604				562				42



Distribution of enforcement actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act from inception to 2002.  Accounting enforcements are violations of  the books and records, internal controls, and rules under of the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2) and (5), 17 C.F.R. 240.13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of foreign bribery under the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).



Table 2

		TABLE 2

		Distribution by industry and firm size of enforcement actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

		2-digit				Size-Based Deciles																						Recidivism

		SIC				Larger Firms														Smaller Firms						Not		# Actions/Firm						Total

		Brackets		Industry		10		9		8		7		6		5		4		3		2		1		Listed1		1		2				Actions

		01-09		Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing						1																		1						1

		10-14		Mining		1		1		1		1		1				1		3		2		1		5		17						17

		15-17		Construction								2				4		3						2		1		12						12

		20-39		Manufacturing		17		11		15		27		21		21		19		26		18		29		9		213		2				215

		40-49		Transportation, Communication, Electric, Gas & Sanitary Services		3		3		2		3				3		4		1		3		3		3		28						28

		50-51		Wholesale Trade		2				1		4		1		1		3		7		5		5		3		32		1				33

		52-59		Retail Trade		2		2		3		2		2		3		5		1		5		5				30						30

		60-67		Finance, Insurance, & Real Estate		16		4		3		5		7		3		7		6		4		13		2		70		2				72

		70-89		Services		9		3		11		12		14		4		9		9		10		14		4		99		1				100

				Unclassified																				1		95		96						96

				Total		50		24		37		56		46		39		51		53		47		73		122		598		6				604

		1.  Unable to be classified into size deciles because they were not listed in CRSP prior to the enforcement action.



Distribution of FCPA enforcement actions from inception to 2002 by SIC-based industry definitions and size decile.  We use SIC codes from COMPUSTAT from the fiscal year end of the initial announcement.  Size decile reflects the firm's pre-announcement market value of equity relative to all NYSE, AMEX, and NASDAQ firms in the CRSP database.  Recidivism occurs when an enforcement action is taken more than once against a firm.  Chi-Square test reject the null hypotheses that enforcement actions are uniformly distributed across industries and across firm size.

Scott called these cases but I think Action is a better term since multiple "cases" will be brought against multiple defendents in one action.  Take for example, Enron.  There are cases against the firm, Fastow, Lay, Aurther Andersen etc. all stemming from the single enforcement action against Enron.  The audience is likely to include lawyers so I believe this distinction will be important.  To be cosistent we also refer to these as actions in later tables.

Jerry



Table 3

		TABLE 3

		Types of proceedings enjoined and penalties imposed during enforcement actions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

						Type of enforcement action								Difference tests

						All		Accounting		Bribery				t-value		Prob>|t|

		Number of enforcement actions				607		562		42

		Number of administrative proceedings				753		774		8

		Per enforcement action				1.24		1.38		0.19				9.56		<.0001

		Number of litigation proceedings				948		951		23

		Per enforcement action				1.56		1.69		0.55				7.27		<.0001

		Number of AAERs issued				1,185		1,216		18

		Per enforcement action				1.95		2.16		0.43				8.59		<.0001

		Number of criminal proceedings				152		76		48

		Per enforcement action				0.25		0.14		1.14				-7.65		<.0001



Accounting proceedings are violations of  the FCPA books and records or internal controls provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2) and (5), and 17 C.F.R. 240.13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of FCPA foreign bribery provisions (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).  Administrative proceedings are formal actions taken by the SEC.  Litigation proceedings are brought by the judicial branch and criminal proceedings are parallel criminal actions.  AAERs (Accounting and Auditing Releases) are issued by the SEC to divulge enforcement actions.

Number of firms, individuals, SEC administrative, SEC/DOJ civil, DOJ criminal proceedings, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases relating to  Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement proceedings between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  *Includes 19 firms, 51 individuals, 11 administrative proceedings, 24 litigation proceedings, 12 criminal, and 23 AAERs in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.



Table 4

		TABLE 4

		Non-FCPA charges brought against firms violating the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

								Accounting				Bribery				Total

		No non-FCPA charges filed						31				16				47

		Fraud charges filed with the FCPA-related charge:						431				13				444

		Violation of the 1933 Securities Act1						266				3				269

		Violation of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act						165				10				175

		Accounting fraud						140				1				141

		Criminal						10				1				11

		Civil						130				-				130

		Accounting with other fraud violations						25				9				34

		Criminal						3				-				3

		Civil						22				-				22

		Foreign bribery (FCPA)						-				13				13

		Criminal						-				11				11

		Civil						-				2				2

		Reporting with other non-fraud violations						9				-				9

		Criminal						2				-				2

		Civil						7				-				7

		Reporting violations (no fraud)						122				16				138

		FCPA accounting with other reporting violations						91				-				91

		Criminal						1				-				1

		Civil						90				-				90

		FCPA accounting violations

		Criminal						-				11				11

		Civil						31				5				36

		Total						562				42				604

		1.		263 of 266 accounting and all 3 bribery enforcement actions included both 1933 Securities

				Act and 1934 Securities Exchange Act violations.



Number of firms, individuals, SEC administrative, SEC/DOJ civil, DOJ criminal proceedings, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases relating to  Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement proceedings between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  *Includes 19 firms, 51 individuals, 11 administrative proceedings, 24 litigation proceedings, 12 criminal, and 23 AAERs in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.

Classification and frequency of charges brought against 562 firms that violated the accounting sections and 42 firms that violated the bribery sections of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  Firms are classified by the most serious charge levied under the 1933 Securities Act , 1934 Securities Exchange Act, and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in the enforcement action.



Table 5

		TABLE 5

		Penalties for individuals resulting from FCPA violations from inception through 2002

						Type of enforcement action								Difference tests

						All		Accounting		Bribery				t Value		Prob>|t|

		Number of enforcement actions				607		562		42

		Number of individuals cited				1,899		1,874		102

		Individual monetary penalties		N1		247		232		19

				Total		$8,406,930		$8,720,981,000		$11,828,000

				Mean		$34,036		$37,590,000		$623,000				1.26		0.2103

				Median		$180		$212,000		$45,000

				Min		$2.93		$3,000		$5,000

				Max2		$6,800,000		$6,800,000,000		$9,815,456

		Number of officer and director bars				325		336		5

		Number of other suspensions/bars				292		337		2

		Number of censures				15		18		0

		Total bars, suspensions, and censures				632		691		7

		Per enforcement action				1.04		1.23		0.17				6.45		<.0001

		Number of individuals incarcerated				62		66		8

		Years of incarceration		Total		308.3		296.3		14.2

				Mean		5.0		4.5		1.8				1.98		0.0451

				Median		2.6		2.5		1.0

				Min		0.3		0.3		0.2

				Max		70.0		70.0		7.0

		Number of individuals placed on probation				35		32		18

		Years of probation		Total		142.5		95.0		44.2

				Mean		3.0		3.0		2.5				1.70		0.0962

				Median		3.0		3.0		3.0

				Min		0.3		2.0		1.0

				Max		6.0		6.0		5.0

		1.  Number of times one or more individuals associated with one firm were assessed monetary penalties.

		2.  $6.8B total penalties were assessed in failed Lincoln Savings and Loan (American Continental Corp).



Size and frequency of monetary and non-monetary penalties imposed on individuals under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.   Accounting enforcements are violations of  the books and records, internal controls, and rules under of the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2) and (5), 17 C.F.R. 240.13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of foreign bribery under the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).  Monetary penalties include fines, disgorgement, and other forms of restitution.  Incarcerations refer to prison sentences and house arrest.  Officer and director bars refer to the prohibition of serving as an officer or director of a public firm.  Censures are formal reprimands issued by the SEC to third parties such as auditors.



Table 6

		TABLE 6

		Penalties for firms resulting from FCPA violations from inception through 2002

						Type of enforcement action								Difference tests

						All		Accounting		Bribery				t-value		Prob>|t|

		Number of enforcement actions		N				562		42

		Penalties imposed by the SEC and DOJ

		Firm monetary penalties ($000)		N		53		36		24

				Total		$2,383,521		$3,379,743		$128,411

				Mean		$44,972		$93,882		$5,350				1.39		0.1718

				Median		$530		$1,125		$300

				Min		$0.03		$0		$1

				Max		$1,510,000		$2,250,000		$69,000

		Cease and desist order		N		286		282		6

		Permanent injunction		N		490		472		23

		Remediation		N		124		116		9

		Registration revocation		N		21		22		0

		Total non-monetary actions		N		921		892		38

				Mean		1.52		1.59		0.90				4.39		<.0001

		Damage awards through class action and derivative lawsuits

		Total amounts paid by firm ($000)		N		118		118		1

				Total		$4,230,693		$4,135,433

				Mean		$35,853		$35,046		$1,460				0.13		0.8982

				Median		$2,500		$2,438

				Min		$57.15		$0

				Max		$2,830,000		$2,830,000

		Total amounts paid by individuals, D&O		N		141		141		1

		insurance, and other related parties ($000)		Total		$2,118,323		$1,997,723

				Mean		$15,024		$14,168		$14,850				-0.02		0.9863

				Median		$2,175		$2,175

				Min		$0.00		$0

				Max		$335,000		$335,000

		Total class action/derivative awards ($000)		N		141		141		1

				Total		$2,118,323		$6,133,156

				Mean		$15,024		$43,498		$16,310				0.10		0.9196

				Median		$2,175		$6,200

				Min		$0.00		$75

				Max		$335,000		$3,165,000



Number of firms, individuals, SEC administrative, SEC/DOJ civil, DOJ criminal proceedings, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases relating to  Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement proceedings between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  *Includes 19 firms, 51 individuals, 11 administrative proceedings, 24 litigation proceedings, 12 criminal, and 23 AAERs in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.

Penalties imposed by the SEC and DOJ and through class action and derivative lawsuits relating to enforcement actions under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.   Class action lawsuits may be brought by shareholders against the firm, its directors and officers as a result of the accounting related charges named in government enforcement actions.  Derivative lawsuits may be brought by shareholders against the directors and officers on behalf of the firm with awards and settlements being paid to the firm.  Accounting enforcements are violations of  the books and records, internal controls, and rules under of the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2) and (5), 17 C.F.R. 240.13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of foreign bribery under the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).

Number of firms, individuals, SEC administrative, SEC/DOJ civil, DOJ criminal proceedings, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases relating to  Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement proceedings between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  *Includes 19 firms, 51 individuals, 11 administrative proceedings, 24 litigation proceedings, 12 criminal, and 23 AAERs in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.



Table 7

		TABLE 7

		Determinants of monetary penalties imposed for violations of the accounting provisions of the FCPA

																						Accounting		Bribery		Total

						Accounting						Bribery						1		Total observations		562		42		604

						Model 1		Model 2				Model 3		Model 4				2		Gov't action not complete (open)		59		2		61		33 accounting and 1 bribery have some penalties accessed but gov't action is not finished; 14 accounting and 1 bribery have paid class actions but gov't action is not finished

		Dependent variable				LnTotal		LnFirm				LnTotal		LnFirm				3		Pending class action		22		2		24		15 accounting and 1 bribery have completed government action but have pending class actions

		Log Likelihood				-948.1072		-605.9611				-42.0590		-31.1979				4		Open or pending (2 or 3)		70		4		74		45 accounting and 2 bribery are either open or pending and have some penalties or paid class actions

		LR Chi-square				131.19		101.73				12.62		29.46				5		Net observations (1 minus 4)		492		38		530

		Prob > Chi-square				<.001		<.001				0.126		<.001				6		Missing market cap (LnSize) or vioation period CAR (RptCAR)		100		19		119

		Number of Observations				392		392				18		18				7		Net observations (5 minus 6)		392		19		411

		Missing Observations				100		100				20		20				8		No total penalties		156		6		162

		Left Censored Observations				170		273				7		8				9		No firm penalties		253		7		260

		Uncensored Observations				222		119				11		10				10		Uncensored observations [LnTotal] (7 - 8)		236		13		249

						Parameter Estimates						Parameter Estimates						11		Uncensored observations [LnFirm] (7 - 9)		139		12		151

		Intercept		Value		-24.1356		-52.7552				-33.1544		-87.8497

				Pr > |t|		<.001		<.001				0.120		0.048

		Ln (market capitalization)		Value		1.8729		3.7197				2.3040		2.6584

				Pr > |t|		<.001		<.001				0.110		0.098

		Firm in financial distress		Value		-0.7966		-5.7402

		(1 if firm in financial distress, 0 otherwise)		Pr > |t|		0.481		0.006

		Cumulative abnormal return for violation period		Value		0.0048		-2.1933				4.6595		-20.1840

				Pr > |t|		0.971		0.098				0.566		0.030

		Self-disclosure dummy		Value		1.2662		5.6485				-12.4616		13.6641

		(1 if firm self-disclosed problem, 0 otherwise)		Pr > |t|		0.295		0.010				0.591		0.133

		1933 Securities Act Fraud dummy		Value		0.1176		-0.3797				-15.0795		-19.4324

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1933 Securities Act, 0 otherwise)		Pr > |t|		0.926		0.869				0.232		0.186

		1934 Securities Act Fraud dummy		Value		4.4051		3.3975				-4.2268		-4.5438

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1934 Securities Exchange Act, 0 otherwise)		Pr > |t|		0.004		0.201				0.591		0.467

		Criminal dummy		Value		5.3414		4.8219				2.7919		43.4774

		(1 if action included criminal charges, 0 otherwise)		Pr > |t|		0.004		0.148				0.645		0.02

		Number of proceedings		Value		0.8147		0.1635				6.5817		16.8515

				Pr > |t|		0.004		0.750				0.110		0.017

		Number of days in the enforcement period		Value		0.0019		0.0012				0.0039		-0.0074

				Pr > |t|		0.024		<.001				0.452		0.121

				Value		8.1815		494.4262

		Scott wanted to see an analysis of the frequency of Dummy vaiables.

		Dummy Variable Analysis

						Accounting						Bribery

						N		%				N		%

		Firm in financial distress				176		44.9%				21		11.1%

		(1 if firm in financial distress, 0 otherwise)

		Self-disclosure dummy				190		48.5%				5		15.8%

		(1 if firm self-disclosed problem, 0 otherwise)

		1933 Securities Act Fraud dummy				175		44.6%				2		11.1%

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1933 Securities Act, 0 otherwise)

		1934 Securities Act Fraud dummy				295		75.3%				8		44.4%

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1934 Securities Exchange Act, 0 otherwise)

		Criminal dummy				40		10.2%				12		66.7%

		(1 if action included criminal charges, 0 otherwise)

		1.  Is a linear combination of another variable and is dropped from the regression.



Cross-sectional Tobit regressions of total and firm monetary penalties from class action awards and penalties from actions that include provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  The dependent variables are the logarithms of total class action awards and monetary penalties paid by all parties (LnTotal) and total class action awards and penalties paid by the firm (LnFirm).  The independent variables are: logarithm of market capitalization measured one day before the first announcement; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if the firm was in financial distress defined as either in or near bankruptcy and 0 otherwise; the violation period cumulative abnormal return based upon the value-weight index of all stocks in CRSP; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if the firm self-disclosed the investigation by the government and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if fraud charges under the 1933 Securities Act were included in the action and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if fraud charges under the 1934 Securities Exchange Act were included in the action and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if criminal charges were included in the action and 0 otherwise; the total number of proceedings defined as the sum of administrative releases, litigation releases, and criminal cases involved with the action;  and the total number of days during the enforcement period.  The financial distress variable was dropped in the Bribery regressions due to collinearity.

Jon,
I reran these regressions eliminating the unresolved enforcement actions (where penalties and class actions are unknown) and correcting EvntDays.  The reconcilliation for Tables 6-7 is presented below:



Table 8

		TABLE 8

		Abnormal stock returns for FCPA-related enforcement actions

		Panel A:  Accounting provision enforcement actions

										FCPA accounting violation announcements

														Subsequent Announcements

		Announcement				Trigger				First				Charges filed				Resolution				All

		Type				Announcement				Announcement				Announcement				Announcements				Announcements

		Inquiry/investigation				-22.31%***				-13.30%***												-17.04%***

						(-17.98%)***				(-8.84%)***												(-11.62%)***

						97.7%				96.2%												96.9%

						n = 132				n = 186												n = 318

		Enforcement proceeding				-15.24%***				-7.16%***				-6.63%***								-8.67%***

						(-9.01%)***				(-3.68%)***				(-4.50%)***								(-5.16%)***

						90.0%				92.3%				94.1%								92.7%

						n = 30				n = 39				n = 68								n = 137

		Resolution proceeding				-16.58%***				-3.77%***				-3.66%***				-3.63%***				-6.21%***

						(-11.71%)***				(-2.30%)***				(-1.60%)***				(-3.12%)***				(-3.47%)***

						100.0%				89.2%				83.3%				88.2%				89.8%

						n = 44				n = 65				n = 48				n = 68				n = 225

		All announcements				-20.06%***				-10.34%***				-5.40%***				-3.63%***				-11.77%***

						(-14.22%)***				(-5.45%)***				(-3.11%)***				(-3.12%)***				(-5.87%)***

						97.1%				94.1%				89.7%				88.2%				93.7%

						n = 206				n = 290				n = 116				n = 68				n = 680

		Panel B:  Bribery provision enforcement actions

										FCPA bribery violation announcements

														Subsequent Announcements

		Announcement				Trigger				First				Charges filed				Resolution				All

		Type				Announcement				Announcement				Announcement				Announcements				Announcements

		Inquiry/investigation				-11.37%**				-3.91%												-7.02%***

						(-9.45%)*				(-2.59%)												(-4.49%)***

						100.0%				71.4%												83.3%

						n = 5				n = 7												n = 12

		Enforcement proceeding				-5.20%				-2.98%**				-0.28%								-3.14%***

						(-1.93%)				(-0.93%)***				(-0.13%)								(-0.88%)***

						80.0%				90.9%				66.7%								84.2%

						n = 5				n = 11				n = 3								n = 19

		Resolution proceeding				-1.56%				-1.05%				-0.01%				-1.23%*				-0.99%**

						(-1.56%)				(-0.85%)				(-0.35%)				(-0.67%)*				(-0.69%)**

						100.0%				66.7%				75.0%				76.9%				76.2%

						n = 1				n = 3				n = 4				n = 13				n = 21

		All announcements				-7.67%***				-3.02%***				-0.13%				-1.23%*				-3.17%***

						(-6.02%)***				(-1.17%)***				(-0.13%)				(-0.67%)*				(-1.11%)***

						90.9%				81.0%				71.4%				76.9%				80.8%

						n = 11				n = 21				n = 7				n = 13				n = 52

		***  Significant at the 0.01 level								**  Significant at the 0.05 level								*  Significant at the 0.10 level



Average one-day market-adjusted returns for 290 accounting enforcement actions and 21 bribery enforcement actions.  Events are grouped by announcement type and by initial versus subsequent revelations of potential violations.  Abnormal returns are measured relative to the value-weighted CRSP index.  Each cell reports the mean and median (in parentheses) abnormal return, the proportion of negative abnormal returns, and the number of announcements.  Asterisks adjoining means indicate significance levels for parametric t-tests; asterisks adjoining medians indicate significance levels for the Mann-Whitney rank sum test.  Enforcement actions are pending for 28 accounting cases and 1 fraud case.  Accounting infractions include 109 firms that delisted before their resolution announcement versus 1 firm among the the fraud violations.



Table 9

		TABLE 9

		Determinants of abnormal stock returns around FCPA enforcement actions

																		Accounting		Bribery		Total

								Model 1		Model 2				1		Observations w/announcement AR's		290		21		311		(from Table 8)

								Accounting		Bribery				2		Gov't action unresolved (open)		28		1		29

		Dependent variable						Abnormal Return						3		Pending class action		14		2		16

		R-Square						0.2774		0.8515				4		Open or pending (2 or 3)		36		3		39

		Adj R-Square						0.2401		0.5841				5		Not in COMPUSTAT		49		2		51

		F Value						7.45		3.19				6		Open or pending or not in COMPUSTAT (4 or 5)		82		5		87

		Prob > F						<.0001		0.1075				7		Net observations (1 minus 6)		208		16		224		(used in Table 10)

		Observations						205		15				8		No violation period CAR (RptCAR)		3		1		4		(These would be IPO firms whose offering financial statements were in error)

								Prameter Estimates						9		Observations used in regression		205		15		220		(used in Table 9)

								Accounting		Bribery

		Intercept				Value		-0.1165		0.2910

						Pr > |t|		0.091		0.187

		Ln (market capitalization)				Value		0.0096		-0.0202

						Pr > |t|		0.073		0.223

		Firm in financial distress				Value		-0.0301

		(1 if firm in financial distress, 0 otherwise)				Pr > |t|		0.162

		Cumulative abnormal return for violation period				Value		-0.0283		-0.0859

						Pr > |t|		0.073		0.086

		Self-disclosure dummy				Value		-0.0604		0.0459

		(1 if firm self-disclosed problem, 0 otherwise)				Pr > |t|		<.001		0.205

		1933 Securities Act Fraud dummy				Value		-0.0701		0.2224

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1933 Securities Act, 0 otherwise)				Pr > |t|		0.001		0.088

		1934 Securities Act Fraud dummy				Value		0.0225		-0.0295

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1934 Securities Exchange Act, 0 otherwise)				Pr > |t|		0.188		0.451

		Criminal dummy				Value		0.0126		0.0595

		(1 if action included criminal charges, 0 otherwise)				Pr > |t|		0.738		0.101

		Number of proceedings				Value		-0.0087		-0.0539

						Pr > |t|		0.258		0.010

		Number of days in the enforcement period				Value		0.0000		-0.0000

						Pr > |t|		0.937		0.494

		Total penalties and class action awards against the firm				Value		-0.4617		-0.5025

		expressed as a percent of market capitalization prior to announcement				Pr > |t|		0.053		0.399

		Scott wanted to see an analysis of the frequency of Dummy vaiables.

		Dummy Variable Analysis

				Accounting				Bribery

				N		%		N		%

		Firm in financial distress		75		36.6%		1		6.7%

		(1 if firm in financial distress, 0 otherwise)

		Self-disclosure dummy		126		61.5%		4		26.7%

		(1 if firm self-disclosed problem, 0 otherwise)

		1933 Securities Act Fraud dummy		86		42.0%		11		6.7%

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1933 Securities Act, 0 otherwise)

		1934 Securities Act Fraud dummy		143		69.8%		6		40.0%

		(1 if action included fraud charges under 1934 Securities Exchange Act, 0 otherwise)

		Criminal dummy		21		10.2%		12		80.0%

		(1 if action included criminal charges, 0 otherwise)

		1.  Is a linear combination of another variable and is dropped from the regression.



Cross-sectional regressions of announcement day abnormal returns of firms investigated under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  The dependent variable is the announcement day abnormal return based upon the value-weight index of all stocks in CRSP.  The independent variables are: logarithm of market capitalization measured one day before the announcement; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if the firm was in financial distress at the time of announcement defined as either in or near bankruptcy and 0 otherwise; the violation period cumulative abnormal return based upon the value-weight index of all stocks in CRSP; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if the firm self-disclosed the investigation by the government and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if fraud charges under the 1933 Securities Act were included in the action and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if fraud charges under the 1934 Securities Exchange Act were included in the action and 0 otherwise; a dichotomous variable that takes the value of 1 if criminal charges were included in the action and 0 otherwise; the total number of proceedings defined as the sum of administrative releases, litigation releases, and criminal cases involved with the action; the total number of days during the enforcement period; and the toal amount of penalties and class action awards expressed as a percent of market capitalization prior to the announcement.  The p values presented are based upon White-corrected standard errors.

Jon,
I reran these regressions eliminating the unresolved enforcement actions (where penalties and class actions are unknown), correcting EvntDays and and using White's method.  The reconcilliation for Tables 8-10 is presented below:



Table 10

		TABLE 10

		The sources of firms' losses from FCPA enforcement actions

		Panel A: Size of the Total Valuation Effect

						Type of violation:

				Statistic		Accounting				Bribery

		Cumulative abnormal return		Obs		208				16

				Mean		-26.15%				-5.54%

				Median		-18.50%				-2.71%

		Dollar Value Impact:				($000)				($000)

		Trigger event announcement day		Mean		-94,585				-16,838

				Median		-4,086				0

		First announcement day		Mean		-24,235				-30,759

				Median		-4,766				-3,635

		Subsequent proceeding		Mean		-70,912				-140

		announcement day		Median		0				0

		Subsequent resolution		Mean		-2,158				-10,419

		announcement day		Median		0				0

		Total		Mean		-191,890				-58,156

				Median		-18,211				-3,635

		Panel B: Sources of Dollar Value Impact

						Type of violation:

						Accounting				Bribery

		Sources:				($000)		% of Total		($000)		% of Total

		Legal penalties		Mean		-1,875		1.0%		-7,509		12.9%

				Median		0				-275

		Class action settlements		Mean		-3,930		2.0%		0		0.0%

				Median		0				0

		Accounting changes		Mean		-93,146		48.5%		-293,300		504.3%

				Median		-5,972				-17,662

		Operations Effect		Mean		-92,940		48.4%		242,654		-417.2%

				Median		-4,725				10,424

		* Significant at the 0.15 level in Student t test for means and sign rank test for medians.



Total economic effect of firms undergoing enforcement proceedings under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  Accounting enforcements are violations of  the books and records, internal controls, and rules under of the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2) and (5), 17 C.F.R. 240.13b2-1 and 13b2-2).  Bribery enforcements are violations of foreign bribery under the FCPA (15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, 2, and 3).  Firms must have data available in COMPUSTAT during the enforcement period.  Cumulative abnormal returns are based on the value-weight index of all stocks in CRSP.  Dollar Value Impact is calculated as the change in total market capitalization across the announcement dates.  Sources of Dollar Value Impact are legal penalties, class action settlements, and dollar value of accounting changes in the fiscal years of the enforcement period calculated by summing special items (COMPUSTAT Item 17), accounting charges (Item 183), and charge offs (Item 349).  The Operations Effect is the total Dollar Value Impact minus the Sources of Dollar Value Impact.



Table X

		TABLE 9

		Status of Firms Undergoing Enforcement Proceedings Under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

						All Firms				Section Frequencies										Section Changes

		Status				In CRSP				All		Accounting		Bribery		Both				All		Accounting		Bribery		Both

						Panel A: Report Period

		Total Firms				20,747				484		454		11		19

		Active				7,076				435		409		10		16

						34.1%				89.9%		90.1%		90.9%		84.2%

		Merger				7,667				5		3		1		1

						37.0%				1.0%		0.7%		9.1%		5.3%

		Dropped				6,004				44		42				2

						28.9%				9.1%		9.3%				10.5%

		Chi-square test of proportions		Prob>|c|						<.01		<.01				<.01

						Panel B: Enforcement Period

		Total Firms				20,747				484		454		11		19				194		191				3

		Active				7,076				241		218		10		13				-194		-191				-3

						34.1%				49.8%		48.0%		90.9%		68.4%				-100.0%		-100.0%				-100.0%

		Merger				7,667				33		30		1		2				28		27				1

						37.0%				6.8%		6.6%		9.1%		10.5%				14.4%		14.1%				33.3%

		Dropped				6,004				210		206				4				166		164				2

						28.9%				43.4%		45.4%				21.1%				85.6%		85.9%				66.7%

		Chi-square test of proportions		Prob>|c|						<.01		<.01				<.01

						Panel C: 24-Month Post-Enforcement Period

		Total Changes				20,747				484		454		11		19				50		47		1		2

		Active				7,076				191		171		9		11				-50		-47		-1		-2

						34.1%				39.5%		37.7%		81.8%		57.9%				-25.8%		-24.6%		-100.0%		-66.7%

		Merger				7,667				54		48		2		4				21		18		1		2

						37.0%				11.2%		10.6%		18.2%		21.1%				10.8%		9.4%		100.0%		66.7%

		Dropped				6,004				239		235				4				29		29

						28.9%				49.4%		51.8%				21.1%				14.9%		15.2%

		Chi-square test of proportions		Prob>|c|						<.01		<.01				0.09



Status of firms undergoing enforcement proceedings under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting section violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery section violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  Both refers to enforcement actions in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.  Report period is the period of time named in the enforcement proceeding in which the firm's books were in error.  Enforcement period consists of the earlier of the month following the end of the report period or the month of the trigger event to resolution date.  Post-enforcement period consists of a 24-month period after resolution date.  Status is based upon status of firm as listed in CRSP at the ealier of the end of the relevant period and 12/31/01.  Active firms refer to firms that are trading.  Merger refers to firms that no longer exist due to acquisition or merger.  Dropped refers to firms that have been dropped from CRSP due to liquidation, going private, no longer reporting, or no longer meets listing requirements.  The Chi-square test of proportions refer to the test of the proportions under a reported section versus all firms in CRSP.

Number of firms, individuals, SEC administrative, SEC/DOJ civil, DOJ criminal proceedings, and Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases relating to  Foreign Corrupt Practices Act enforcement proceedings between 1978 and 2002.   Accounting violations pertain to either Section 13(B)(2)(A) known as the "books and records" provision or 13(B)(2)(B) known as the "internal controls" provision and rules there under.  Bribery violations refer to Section 30(A) violations.  *Includes 19 firms, 51 individuals, 11 administrative proceedings, 24 litigation proceedings, 12 criminal, and 23 AAERs in which both accounting and bribery provisions were violated.
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